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Tuesday, August 23, 2005


‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:00 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Good morning, everyone.  Today is the seventh day of the hearing of applications EB‑2005‑0001 and EB‑2005‑0437 submitted by Enbridge Gas Distribution.


This morning we will continue with the cross‑examination of the panel on O&M and capital budget policy.


We will try for our usual breaks today at 10:30 and at 12:00.  Mr. Cass, do you have any preliminary matters?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. CASS:  I have just two small matters, Madam Chair.  First, the response to undertaking J5.8 is available.  I'm not sure if it has ‑‑ apparently it has already been handed around to everyone.  This, I think, is an undertaking from Friday relating to the risk management issue.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.


MR. CASS:  Second, Madam Chair, there was a mail-out yesterday.  The covering letter lists all of the items that were attached to it.  I won't repeat that on the record.  It was sent to the Board secretary, copied to all parties, but I just wanted to indicate that there are other copies available in the room for anyone that might need that, as well.


MS. NOWINA:  A letter on what topic?


MR. CASS:  Various items.  There, for example, are some changes to the appendices of Mr. Pienaar's evidence in respect of corporate cost allocations.  They're all listed in the covering letter.  It was sent to everyone yesterday.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.


MR. CASS:  It's various items of that nature.


MS. NOWINA:  Okay.


MR. BATTISTA:  I presume we treat that as updated pre-filed evidence and so doesn't require an exhibit number.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, do you have any preliminary matters?


MR. MILLAR:  No, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Anyone else have any preliminary matters?


MR. THOMPSON:  Madam Chair, yes, I do.  At the close of yesterday, two documents were filed, Exhibit K6.7 and K6.8.  These are the documents that Mr. Schultz was referring to throughout his cross‑examination.  


After reviewing these documents last night, I have a few questions on them.  I wanted to seek your leave to put them.  I could put them now, if that was -- if you gave me leave and allowed me to put these questions, or I could wait to see whether they're covered by others.  I suspect it would only take five minutes.  


I have spoken to Mr. Warren.  He has no objection if I precede him.  Mr. Cass indicated that he thought it might as well be put now, rather than later, but I seek your permission to put those questions to the panel.


MS. NOWINA:  I think that's fine, Mr. Thompson.  Why don't we proceed with your questions, then?  


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 3; RESUMED:

Jim Schultz; Previously Sworn


Scott Player; Previously Sworn


Tom Ladanyi; Previously Sworn

Glenn Beaumont; Previously Sworn


CONTINUED CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:

MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Schultz, one of the documents you referred to repeatedly yesterday was the company scorecard, Exhibit K6.7.  Do you have that in front of you?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes, I do.


MR. THOMPSON:  If you go to the -- I think it would be the second page, we have there what is the 2004 scorecard.


MR. SCHULTZ:  For the stub period, correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And there are categories, financial, customer and employee.  


MR. SCHULTZ:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And for financial, can we substitute shareholder?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Both the department O&M billed per customer and capital billed per customer would be as applicable to ratepayer, or more so, than shareholder.  I would suggest that net income would be more applicable to shareholder.


MR. THOMPSON:  These are cost control measures, are they --


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- or revenue-generating revenues?


MR. SCHULTZ:  They are both of those.


MR. THOMPSON:  So it's probably both shareholder and customer.  Now, the weightings there in 2004 for financial totalled 50 percent; is that right?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so financial to customer, the ratio was two to one in this scorecard?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes.  Financial to customer and employee is equal, 50:50, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Then we go to the scorecard on the last page.  This is financial.  It's changed in categories and ratios.  The financial now totals 60 percent?


MR. SCHULTZ:  All of the categories in there, that is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And customer 20 percent, and employee 20 percent.  So the ratios are now three to one, financial to customer and financial to employee?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Although as you notice that the net income has actually dropped from 35 percent to 30, and there was two ‑‑ another component added, that being revenue organic growth.  Again, organic growth, customer additions, department O&M billed would be also applicable from a ratepayer perspective and obviously would like to see us meet or exceed those targets.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, the last question on this document.  How do you calculate department O&M per billed customer for 2004 and 2005; do you know?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I will let Mr. Player ‑‑ I would give you my view, but he can give you a more elaborate description.


MR. PLAYER:  We just take the total O&M cost of the company, and then divide it by the number of customers that we bill during the year, the average number of customers.


MR. THOMPSON:  So departmental O&M for 2004, 194.2 dollars is total 2004 O&M divided by total customers?


MR. PLAYER:  That's only for that stub period, which would be the three months, so it is really not representative through a year.  You have got to take the full seasonality with the winter period when we do the full year numbers.


MR. THOMPSON:  The departmental O&M for 2005, then, is total 2004 O&M board approved, is that right, divided by total number of customers?  This is the 187.4.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. PLAYER:  We believe that's the estimate as opposed to the ADR settlement number, but subject to check on that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, I will leave it subject to check, and if it needs to be clarified, please clarify it.


Turning to Exhibit K6.8, Mr. Schultz, this was waved regularly yesterday.  And this is a document from the ‑‑ an American Gas Association study, is it?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  It is page 53 of 170.  Could I have an undertaking to file the complete study so we can put this in context?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes.  We would do that, yes.


MR. BATTISTA:  We will give that undertaking J7.1.  It will be characterized as the AGA study --


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.


MR. BATTISTA:  -- regarding productivity.

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.1:  PROVIDE COMPLETE AMERICAN GAS ASSOCIATION PRODUCTIVITY STUDY

MR. THOMPSON:  This is -- on the left axis, I understand this is Enbridge, and it is showing something $20 per ‑‑ distribution O&M cost, $20 per customer.


The schedule is entitled "Company Profile Relative Productivity W/O CO BK".  What does that mean?


MR. SCHULTZ:  What that means, first off, is the company letter designation.  The companies have not been identified, for confidentiality reasons.


This does not show one particular company.  And, in fact, that particular company would be off at the right-hand side, so it wasn't relevant to this.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So it's essentially saying companies have not been identified?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the $20 distribution O&M cost per customer, $20, what does that refer to?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Essentially, it refers to probably an element of our total O&M costs, I would say.  I don't know the details of that, but the AGA asks for us to provide our information in a sort of common framework.  So I'm not sure exactly all of the pieces that are included in that, but that's essentially what it is.


MR. THOMPSON:  Let's just bring it a little closer to home, Mr. Schultz, if you could.  I wanted to contrast this document that you were waving to what's in Energy Probe 75, and I just want you to quickly turn that up, please.  


This is Exhibit I, tab 8, schedule 75, page 1 ‑‑ schedule 75.  This is evidence a little closer to home from Enbridge.  What we see on page 1 is a table provided by Union showing the annual consumption for a residential -- a typical residential customer showing the rates -- sorry, showing the annual costs, under rates for a typical residential customer having the volume indicated on page 1.  


You will see -- and it is broken out between delivery and storage, transportation and commodity.  For Union in 1993, the delivery and storage pieces, which capture O&M and capital costs, were $338.00 in '93 and $337 in 2005.

     Energy Probe asked you to do the same schedules for Enbridge, and you find that on page 2.  And you’ll see the chart there.  But the numbers in the chart are shown at the bottom of the page.  And you’ll see the delivery and storage components of Enbridge's rates have increased from 1996 from 346 to 428.  And the increase between 2005 and 2006 is $30, which substantially exceeds any other increase in prior years.  Perhaps you could take all of that, subject to check.  

     But would you agree with me, this table, showing Enbridge's statistics, is not compatible with what you were deriving from Exhibit A6.8 yesterday, where you were telling us, as I understood it, Enbridge's delivery and storage costs in rates are the best in North America.  

     MR. LADANYI:  Mr. Thompson, the schedule and the interrogatory response at Exhibit I, tab 8, schedule 75, deals with the entire rate.  So that first column, delivery and storage, includes return on rate base, it includes taxes, it includes municipal taxes, it includes many other components besides O&M.  

     So they're not numbers that can be filtered out of that response, at all.  We're, essentially, comparing apples and oranges here.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  I will leave it for argument.  

     Thank you very much, Madam Chair.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson. 

     Mr. Warren?  

     MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN:  

     MR. WARREN:  Panel, my questions are confined to the policy issues arising out of the capital portion of the proposed budget.  

     I would like to begin, just briefly, if I can, by understanding some numbers.  In this context, panel, if I could ask you, please, to turn up an interrogatory response to my client, which is Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 12.  

     And at the same time, panel, for purposes of continuity, if you could turn up an exhibit that was filed yesterday, which is Exhibit K6.5.  

     Do you have those documents, Panel? 

     MS. NOWINA:  I think we're all right, Mr. Warren.  

     MR. WARREN:  It's always a good start, Madam Chair, when you're the first person of the day to send everybody plunging through a mass of paper.  It sets everybody's mood, just where you want it to be. 

     Panel, all I want to do is make sure that I understand the numbers.  And what A -- sorry, what Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 12, asks you to do -- or asked Enbridge to do, was to show the actual and budgeted amounts for capital from 1995 through to 2004.  

     I don't propose to take you through the entire document, and perhaps where we could begin, panel, is if you look at page 3 of 5 of the 12th document. 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, we have it.  Actually, the interrogatory goes all the way to 2006, on Page 5. 

     MR. WARREN:  I appreciate that.  Thank you, Mr. Ladanyi.  We'll get to that.  

     I'm looking at the category of -- under “System Improvements and Upgrades”, which is B, and then line 1.2.2, which is “Mains Replacement”.  

     Just beginning in the year 2000, the actual amount spent on mains replacement was 18.9 million.  Have I read that correctly, Mr. Ladanyi?

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, you have.  

     MR. WARREN:  If I go over to the next page, in 2001, the actual amount spent on mains replacement is -- appears, from my somewhat faded copy, to be 28.3 million; is that correct? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Sorry, which column are you in now? 

     MR. WARREN:  I'm dealing only with mains replacement, which is 2000, actual amount, column 19. 

     MR. LADANYI:  Column 19, 2001?

     MR. WARREN:  Yes. 

     MR. LADANYI:  And it's showing 28.3. 

     MR. WARREN:  Yes, thank you.  And if I then go to actual in 2002, moving to the right along that line, the mains replacement was 25.6 million; is that correct? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it is.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then going over to 2003, the actual amount for mains replacement - and again, I apologize my copy is somewhat faded - appears to be - either that, or my eyes are fading - 28.9 million; is that correct? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, 28.9.  You're right.  

     MR. WARREN:  And then, if I go over to the last page, for 2004, the actual amount spent on mains replacement is 21.5 million; is that correct? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Right.  

     MR. WARREN:  Then for 2005, the estimate is 30.2 million; is that correct? 

     MR. LADANYI:  That is right.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, if we could just segue from that - I'm not sure that’s a verb, but bear with me -- segue from that into Exhibit K6.5. 

     MR. LADANYI:  Mm-hmm.

     MR. WARREN:  If I look at column 7, the draft budget for 2006 would have had mains replacement at 19.9 million; is that correct? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  And the proposal which is before this Board -- panel for approval has mains replacement at 73.6 million; is that correct? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Right.  

     MR. WARREN:  If you will, for the first and last time in this cross-examination, allow me a certain latitude, Mr. Ladanyi, that's a roughly four-fold increase over the original budget amount; is that correct? 

     MR. LADANYI:  I will take that, subject to check. 

     MR. WARREN:  Thank you, very much, Mr. Ladanyi.  

     Mr. Schultz, I would like to turn to you if I could, then, with those numbers out of the way.  

     Would I be correct that the mains replacement portion - or Mr. Beaumont, for that matter; it doesn't matter - that the mains replacement portion of the budget is prepared by engineering staff under your direction; is that correct?

     MR. BEAUMONT:  That's correct. 

     MR. WARREN:  Now, Mr. Schultz, -- I'm sorry - I apologize - Mr. Beaumont, the people who prepare that, that engineering staff, I presume - and correct me if I'm

wrong - that they would be aware of, among other things, the record in the preceding year, or several years, of breaks in your mains?  

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Sorry, I'll have to ask you to ask that question again.  

     MR. WARREN:  Your line managers -- the people who are responsible for, among other things, for preparation of the mains replacement portion of the budget, I presume that they would be aware of the record in the preceding year, or preceding several years, of how many breaks you’d had, where those breaks had occurred, and whether -- the types of mains they -- breaks had occurred in; is that fair? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  At least at a certain level, yes, because the way they use that information in the previous plan that we'd been following is to prioritize which mains they're going to schedule for replacement in any given year.  

     MR. WARREN:  Sorry - I apologize - your voice dropped, so I could hardly hear the last part of that. 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Sorry.  They would be aware of it, to a certain degree, because the way they use that information, given the plan that we were previously following, is as one of the inputs to prioritizing which mains they're going to replace in any given year.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, Mr. Schultz, in the course of your testimony yesterday, you laid - I think it fair to summarize, and correct me if I'm wrong - repeated emphasis on the concern that you and your company place on the safety of the public; is that correct? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  That is correct. 

     MR. WARREN:  And may I presume, Mr. Schultz, that you are not the only person in Enbridge who has that concern? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  That is correct.         

     MR. WARREN:  And may I also assume, Mr. Schultz, that the engineers who would be responsible for the budget for mains replacement would be equally sensitive to concerns about public safety; is that fair? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I think that would be fair, yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  And may I assume that, with that concern for safety, they took that into consideration when they prepared and presented their original proposal for $19.9 million expenditure in mains replacement; is that fair? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  They would have followed the current risk-assessment method, and would have put something forward.  However, in assessing the number of breaks, in fact, increasing rather than decreasing, individuals may not have had a broad enough perspective of it, and that's when Mr. Beaumont and myself and others in his area stepped back and said:  Is this really accomplishing what we want.  Are we putting ratepayers at risk? 


And my belief on that was we were putting them more at risk than is appropriate.


MR. WARREN:  Right.  May I then understand that answer that based on the information that was available to your engineering staff and based on the way they analyzed that information, they believed that a mains replacement budget of $19.9 million was sufficient to protect public safety; is that a fair summary?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I think that the way I would characterize it is they believed that it was consistent with the policy that we had set at the time for the pace of replacement.


MR. WARREN:  Now, may I then ask you to turn up, please, Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 16, which is interrogatory response to my client?  And I would like you to turn, in particular, if you would, please, to page 37 of 60.


 Rather than my client ‑‑ and from page 37 of 60 through to page 49 of 60.  Mr. Beaumont, may I conclude that that is one entire document, page 37 through page 49?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I think I would characterize it as two documents, actually.  Down to page 45 is the end of the presentation, and then 46 to 49 is an e‑mail from Sagar Kancharla.


MR. WARREN:  So page 37 to 45 is one document; is that correct?  Have I understood it?


MR. BEAUMONT:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, can you tell me, Mr. Beaumont, what is this document?


MR. BEAUMONT:  This is a presentation that was prepared principally by my staff, that was then used to table the proposal for cast-iron ‑‑ accelerated cast-iron bare-steel replacement in front of the EMT at our strategic planning session in January.


MR. WARREN:  The date of the document is January of 2005; is that correct?


MR. BEAUMONT:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  And so the chronology of events - help me if I'm wrong, Mr. Schultz or Mr. Beaumont - was that there was a presentation to the management team on December 17th of the original budget proposal; is that correct?


MR. BEAUMONT:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  So between the original budget proposal, which had a mains replacement proposal of $19.9 million in January 2005, a period of roughly two weeks, there was this report prepared; is that correct?


MR. BEAUMONT:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  And at whose request was this report prepared?


MR. BEAUMONT:  It's -- the report was prepared arising out of some conversations that Mr. Schultz and I had about bringing forward an accelerated program, and we asked that a document be prepared that could be discussed at the executive management team's strategic planning session.


MR. WARREN:  May I presume, Mr. Beaumont, from your answer that you and Mr. Schultz, when you saw the original proposal for $19.9 million, believed that it was insufficient expenditure to protect public safety?  Is that a fair conclusion on my part?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I think that is a fair conclusion.


MR. WARREN:  And given the importance that the company places on protecting public safety, may I assume that that was a concern, Mr. Schultz, that you would have communicated forthwith to your superiors at Enbridge Inc.?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I certainly had discussions with my superiors at Enbridge Inc. when I determined, in fact, that the number of breaks per 100 kilometres of cast-iron pipe were actually increasing rather than decreasing, even though we were replacing the most break-prone sections of pipe.  


I had indicated I was not comfortable.  I had indicated that there were incidents around the world and, in fact, within the Enbridge franchise area, that, as a result of some leaks, there were catastrophic incidents, and I was not comfortable with the risk that we were taking.  And I had, at that point, indicated that an accelerated cast-iron and bare-steel replacement program, I believed, would be in the best interests of the ratepayers of the province. 


And, as they listened and went through it, they concurred and had asked me why you would have any leaks.  And I suggested that we had been operating with small leaks because of the nature of cast-iron.


MR. WARREN:  May I just interrupt you?  Not to stop your flow, but when you say "they", who is "they"?


MR. SCHULTZ:  The corporate leadership team from Enbridge, which would include my supervisor and other senior people.


MR. WARREN:  I apologize.  I am of rather narrow perspective when I asked that question, because in response to a question my friend Mr. Thompson asked you yesterday, you indicated that you issue weekly reports to your superiors in Calgary, I think to Mr. Letwin, particularly when you believe that there is something important to report to them.  


Did I understand that response correctly?


MR. SCHULTZ:  You understood.  But maybe I can make it clear that I give weekly reports because the gas distribution business is, of course, an important entity within the Enbridge portfolio of investments.


I address those weekly reports to the CEO, Mr. Pat Daniel.  I address them to the CFO.  I address them to the group VP of corporate resources.  I address it to my superior, Steve Letwin.  I address it to our group VP of legal.  So they all are aware of any significant issues in the gas distribution business.


MR. WARREN:  Now, did you issue a report to any or all of those people, Mr. Letwin, or Mr. Daniel, or to the senior management in Calgary, generally, dealing with this issue of apparent material inadequacy of a $19.9 million expenditure to protect public safety?  Did you issue such a report following this presentation in December?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I, first off, do meet twice a month as part of the corporate leadership team, once in person, once telephonic, and I updated verbally to that group the results.


MR. WARREN:  When you say the results, the results of the budget presentation, generally, or this specific issue with respect to public safety?


MR. SCHULTZ:  This specific issue in terms of public safety, I did update the corporate leadership team via a review at a later stage, as well, that would have incorporated this into it.


MR. WARREN:  I want to just deal with the time line.  We have approximately two weeks, according to what Mr. Beaumont and I have agreed with, between the budget presentation in which the figure is 19.9 and a January presentation which supports a material increase in that.  


In that two-week period, is that when you reported to your superiors in Calgary about this issue, about inadequate budget amounts to protect public safety?  Is it in that period?


MR. SCHULTZ:  It would be in the period of January at some point.  I don't recall the specific date.


MR. WARREN:  And is your evidence that there was no written report from you to your superiors dealing with this apparent problem, apparent inadequacy in the protection of public safety; no written report at all?


MR. SCHULTZ:  No written report specifically on this, because the nature of the understanding of the increased number of breaks per 100 kilometres of pipe, I had then had discussion with Mr. Beaumont saying I really feel very uncomfortable, the risk that we have for our ratepayers and the citizens of this province, particularly in a highly densely populated area like downtown Toronto.  And I indicated to him, Can we not replace this quicker?  


And we went through -- in fact, he indicated to me that he did not believe he could do it any earlier than three years, given a number of situations, such as permitting fees and other such things.  


I would have liked to have heard him say we can do it in one year, because I am most uncomfortable putting the citizens of this province at risk.  Therefore, we have, in fact, put forward a budget.  It was at that time that I took that to the corporate leadership team in Calgary and indicated, based on my concerns, this is the most effective and as quick as we can get this in place to minimize that risk.

     MR. WARREN:  My question was a narrower one and it is this:  There was no written report that went from you -- I use the word “report” generically.  Was there any written communication that went from you to the senior people in Calgary, saying that: Our proposed budget of $19.9 million for main replacement is not sufficient to protect the public interest of the people of Ontario.  No written report at all --

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I don’t --

     MR. WARREN:  -- have I got that correctly? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I do not recall a specific report, other than a PowerPoint presentation, which that would have been a part of.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, when you say a PowerPoint presentation, is it other than the PowerPoint presentation which is produced in Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 12? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  It would not have been this PowerPoint presentation. 

     MR. WARREN:  So there is another PowerPoint presentation dealing with this issue, the presentation that was made to the senior people in Calgary; is that correct? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  It would have been a part of that presentation, which would have highlighted the rate application that we would have intended to make. 

     MR. WARREN:  When was that presentation made? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I don't recall the specific date, but generally, what we do -- before we file an application to the Ontario Energy Board, I would identify all of the issues, the costs and the dollars associated with that.  

     The cast-iron pipe acceleration program would have been a part of that.  We filed in March, if memory serves me correctly.  Therefore, I believe it would have been in that time-frame. 

     Now, in addition to that, we -- I would have had discussions with the corporate leadership team in the January, February and March time-frame, just giving update on the status of the rate application.  So, to the best of my recollection, those would be the days, and those would be the type of information that would have been discussed.  

     MR. WARREN:  So the only -- do I take it from that that the only presentation that was made to the senior management in Calgary, with respect to this material risk to the safety of the people of Ontario, was part of your ongoing reports with respect to an application to the Ontario Energy Board.  Have I understood that correctly? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  There are other avenues to report this type of information.  Enbridge Gas Distribution, as well as the entire Enbridge organization, does detailed

risk-assessment -- what are the various components of risk?  Cast-iron and bare-steel pipe are a part of that.  That's a report that would go to our board.  I do operational updates on a regular basis to the corporate leadership team.  There's a variety of ways information is provided and reviewed, and comments that I would receive, in terms of any other views -- other than the ones that I would have presented.  

     MR. WARREN:  Are you -- am I to understand your evidence that there was a risk-assessment done on cast-iron mains -- a risk-assessment was prepared and presented to the corporate team in Calgary?  Do I understand that correctly? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  It is a portion of it.  There is

risk-assessment that we do that is a result of gas supply, a result of various financial activities.  Mr. Player, in fact, is responsible in my organization for pulling together the risk assessment for Enbridge Gas Distribution, which gets consolidated with risks from other Enbridge entities, which is presented to the entire Enbridge Inc. board.  And, of course, the gas distribution is presented to those members on the Enbridge Gas Distribution board.  

     MR. WARREN:  Again, my question was a narrower one, a specific one.  Was there a risk-assessment report that was prepared and presented to the senior management in Calgary with respect to the safety issue arising from cast-iron mains?  Yes or no? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes, as a part of a larger document.  

     MR. WARREN:  All right.  May that document be produced, please?  

     MR. CASS:  Well, Madam Chair, I haven't seen this document.  I have concerns about this sort of risk-assessment document that Mr. Schultz is talking about being placed on the public record.   He's made it very clear, any risk assessment with respect to cast-iron mains is wrapped up in larger risk assessments for Enbridge, generally.  Without me ever seeing that document, I'm quite concerned that these sorts of risk assessments could be placed on a public record.  It strikes me as a very sensitive sort of information.  

     MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, I -- let me preface my response by saying I understand the sensitivity.  

     What we have, however, is evidence which is presented that the people who were responsible for safety -- the line managers responsible for safety, proposed a budget of 19.9 million for mains replacement.  We then have a presentation to this panel, which says that that's inadequate to protect public safety.  And what we have, if the panel might turn up page 38 of 60 of Exhibit A, tab 5, schedule 16, is -- we have a program rationale for this, which says there are two drivers.  One, our legislative changes -- a topic I will get to in a moment.  And the second is the results of a 2005 AGF distribution safety study.  

     Now, I’m going to -- I’ll ask a number of questions about this AGF distribution study -- safety study.  But in my respectful submission, we're dealing with a very important, very sensitive issue, which is the protection of public safety, and a material, four-fold increase in expenditure.  And it seems to me incumbent upon this company, if they're going to make rather dramatic statements about threats to public safety, that they provide the Board with their analysis of what the risk is.  

     Now, if it can -- if the risk analysis on replacement mains can be provided in confidence, I understand that sensitivity.  But in my respectful submission, for an issue of this magnitude of importance to the public safety, this Board is entitled to the best information it can in support of this proposal.  And it's in that context that I ask for this document.  

     MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, if I might just reply to that?  

     First, I didn't hear Mr. Warren - perhaps, I misunderstood his questions - I didn't hear him ask the witnesses, please provide the risk assessment that Enbridge Gas Distribution has done of cast-iron mains.  

     That question, I don't think I’d have a difficulty with.  He's asking -- has asked for what was reported to the corporate leadership team.  And Mr. Schultz has explained that the risk assessment for cast-iron mains is wrapped up into that.  

     If he had asked for what he seemed to be arguing for in his submission, which is the -- simply the risk assessment for cast-iron mains, I don't think there would be an issue.  It's the problem of this being wrapped up into something larger that has other components in it.  

     Then secondly, all I was suggesting was, if he really insists that what he wants is the assessment that has a number of things wrapped up into it, to at least allow us an opportunity to look at it, see what’s included in it, see what’s responsive to his question and what concerns there might be about providing it.  

     So those were the points I wish to make in response.  

     Thank you, Madam Chair.  

     MR. WARREN:  All I can say, Madam Chair, is this:  Mr. Cass is fair to tax me for having asked the wrong question.  I’m assuming, obviously incorrectly, that the risk assessment which is done within Enbridge would, in the ordinary course, be provided to the shareholder.  If there's a different document, then fine:  I will ask for production of the risk assessment that was done within Enbridge Gas Distribution with respect to the safety of cast-iron mains.  

     But I also think it’s material to have whatever presentation went to Calgary, because it’s Calgary that says “yes” or “no” with respect to the budget.  

     So I am asking for both.  

     MR. BEAUMONT:  One impression that I wanted to make sure I didn't leave out there, based on your comments, is the way that this is prepared -- the budget is prepared, and who sets the policy.  

     The people who prepare the budget are what are known as “distribution planners.”  They are, essentially, following a policy.  They're not assessing the risks.  All they're doing is using the mains, break and leak information to prioritize those projects.  

     The policy is developed in another part of the organization, also within my realm of influence, but developed by the engineering department.  So they are the ones that are assessing the risks, assessing the environment that we're operating in, looking at the issues surrounding the safety of our plant, and then coming forward with their recommendations, which, then, will be the driver for how the planners go about scheduling and costing-out the projects for that year.  

     Now, this particular budget, the 19.9 was a draft budget.  And irrespective of whether we were going to go forward with a replacement -- accelerated replacement project or not, I would have sent it back anyways.  Because I would have called it inadequate, because there were other things missing from that budget, as well.  And that's part of what my job is, is to make sure that we have done that, that we have included the things we need to include to satisfy me, and others, as to the safety of our system.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Can we proceed to get the undertaking numbers, please?  


MR. BATTISTA:  We will give that undertaking J7.2 and that will be the risk assessment ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Maybe we will just stick with Mr. Warren's description from the record.  I think it was fairly clear in terms of the two undertakings.


MR. WARREN:  The first document I'm asking for is the risk assessment which Enbridge Gas Distribution prepared with respect to cast-iron main replacement.  The second document I asked for was that portion of the risk assessment that was provided to Calgary that dealt with cast-iron main replacement.

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.2:  RISK ASSESSMENT BY ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION RE CAST-IRON MAIN REPLACEMENT
UNDERTAKING NO. J7.3:  PORTION OF RISK ASSESSMENT PROVIDED TO CALGARY RE CAST-IRON MAIN REPLACEMENT

MS. NOWINA:  And the second document, which I assume will be J7.3, may be subject to some confidentiality process and Enbridge will let us know if they have that concern.


MR. CASS:  I simply don't know, Madam Chair.  I have never seen the documents.  The witnesses may, in light of hearing what the undertakings are -- what undertakings have been requested, may have their own comments on the extent to which that can be fulfilled.


My difficulty is I simply have not seen what was presented to the corporate leadership team.


MR. SCHULTZ:  Madam Chair, we would be prepared to provide that portion of the presentation that I made to the corporate leadership team in Calgary that applies to cast-iron and the risk assessment on it as part of the undertaking.


And the other portion of it, we would provide a summary of that risk assessment that we have done in Enbridge Gas Distribution specifically on cast-iron and bare-steel.


MS. NOWINA:  Does that meet your requirements, Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  That's fine.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. WARREN:  Now, I just want to make sure, because Mr. Cass has pointed out that my questions may not be as precise as they ought to be.  Was there just one risk assessment done on cast-iron mains in 2005, or were there several risk assessments done?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I think that the proper way to characterize this is that we continually do risk assessment on all of our plant.  That's done in a number of ways, though.  Some of it is trying to formally apply numbers to it.  Some of it is by consulting with subject matter experts.  


So I'm not sure that I would limit us to saying we just ‑‑ you know, we did a risk assessment; we're done with it.  It's continual and ongoing.


MR. WARREN:  You have just given an undertaking to provide a risk assessment study to the Board.  Am I to now understand that that doesn't exist or what ‑‑


MR. BEAUMONT:  No.  I think it is important to clarify that.  I mean, our decision is, I mean, absolutely not dependent on a single activity.  So where we engage in trying to apply quantitative risk assessment to our plant, that becomes one of the inputs that we use in making our decision, because nothing like that is going to be absolutely dead-on accurate.


We also have our own judgment.  We are aware of what legislation is going on.  We're aware of what other people have done with respect to their own plant.  We're aware of what activity is going on in and around this plant, which all causes us to come to the conclusions that we come to.


So there is a document, but I'm just cautious about having it characterized as this, in and of itself, caused us to make the decision.


MR. WARREN:  Could I ask you to turn up, Mr. Beaumont, Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 16, page 38?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Can you describe for me, please, or, rather, for the Panel what the AGF distribution safety study is?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Again, this was another input to our decision, absolutely.  It was a study that was commissioned through the American Gas Foundation that looked at the contributing factors to distribution safety concerns across, principally, the United States and summarizes those concerns in a report.


MR. WARREN:  And what's the date of that report?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I'm not too sure, exactly, but it would be in and around November of 2004.


MR. WARREN:  2004?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I really would need to check.  I thought it was before the end of 2004.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  I can't find that anywhere in the record.  Am I wrong, Mr. Beaumont?  Is this document ‑‑ it says 2005 AGF distribution study.


MR. BEAUMONT:  It may have come out after the New Year.  I'm just not sure.  The work was completed during the course of 2004.


MR. WARREN:  Work completed during the course of 2004; is that right?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Am I wrong that this is not in the record ‑‑ I have too many negatives in there.  Is or is not this document in the record now?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I don't believe we filed it yet.


MR. WARREN:  Can I get an undertaking from you to file this 2005 AGF distribution study?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes, with only one caveat.  I'm not sure of the confidentiality associated with it.  We have access to it as a member of the American Gas Foundation.


MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, subject to issues of confidentiality my friend Mr. Cass may raise, can I get an undertaking to provide the document?


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J7.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.4:  PRODUCTION OF 2005 AGF DISTRIBUTION STUDY

MR. WARREN:  Now, if I've understood your answers to me correctly, Mr. Beaumont, the AGF study, if I look at page 38 of 60, the bottom box on the page, it says that SDAR mains contributed 24 percent of serious incidents from 1990 to 2002.  That's North America-wide data; is that right?


MR. BEAUMONT:  As I said, I believe it was principally the United States.


MR. WARREN:  Principally the United States, all right.


MR. BEAUMONT:  Just to be clear, we're the only company in Canada with cast-iron left.


MR. WARREN:  But ‑‑


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sorry, I didn't hear that.


MR. BEAUMONT:  I said we're the only company in Canada with cast-iron left in our system.


MR. WARREN:  Now, if this study, as you've indicated, may have been available as early as the latter part of 2004 -- is that possible?


MR. BEAUMONT:  At least in draft form.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  And in draft form, you would have been aware of it towards the end of 2004?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I would have been aware of at least elements of it, yes.


MR. WARREN:  And in the latter part of 2004, would you have distributed the draft to your line managers or your line supervisors in the engineering department?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Not the people that were preparing the budgets, but to the engineering, proper, engineering department people who prepared policy.


MR. WARREN:  Now, it is offered up on page 38 of 60, under the heading "Program Rationale", that one of the rationales for this ‑‑ what turned out to be a four-fold increase in spending on replacement mains, the 2005 AGF distribution safety study is offered up as one of the two rationales; am I correct?


MR. BEAUMONT:  It is one of the contributing inputs to our decision, yes.


MR. WARREN:  I'm just looking at the document here, which says "Program Rationale", and it's got two things, one of which is results 2005 AGF distribution safety study.  Am I misreading that, sir?  That's one of the two rationales?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I think the previous slide is additional rationale, as well.


MR. WARREN:  What puzzles me about this, sir, is that if you were aware in late 2004 of the apparent significance of the results of the 2005 AGF distribution study, why it's by December 17th, nearly a year later, this hadn't filtered down to the line managers preparing the budget.


MR. BEAUMONT:  I'm not sure I would characterize this as a year later, and that work was going on.  As we talked about already, there was continual assessment of the state of our plant that was going on by others, people other than those that prepare the actual projects.


MR. WARREN:  This may be pushing the envelope a tad, Mr. Beaumont, but you can surely sympathize with my puzzlement that if this is one of the rationales for a four-fold increase in spending, why it would have taken the better part of a year for the significance of this for public safety ‑‑


MR. BEAUMONT:  I appreciate the --


MR. WARREN:  Let me finish -- to have worked its way down to the people who prepared the budget?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I appreciate the point you're trying to make.  However, I think if you heard what I said, this was an ongoing assessment.  I'm not sure at what point we were aware of any of the draft pieces associated with this.


It is one input into the decision we made.  This is not something we had in January '04, and then sat on it for a year, by any stretch.  We'd been working on this kind of assessment of all of the elements of our plant on a continuous basis and at a heightened level of activity over the last couple of years.  We'd made decisions in our aspects of our distribution plant rehabilitation.  This was just another one of those.  


The timing took ‑‑ the timing came at the end of December and early January '05 as a result of conversations Mr. Schultz and I had.  

     MR. WARREN:  Well, why --

     MR. LADANYI:  Mr. Warren, can you explain to us the calendar?  What does “the better part of a year mean”, from December '04 to January '05?  That's what it sounded like to us.  Can you explain how you worked this calendar? 

     MR. WARREN:  Well, in the ordinary course it's me who asks the questions, but out of respect for you  

     MR. LADANYI:  No, I know, but here -- we're confused. 

     MR. WARREN:  -- out of respect to you, Mr. Ladanyi, I’ll answer your question.  The budget presentation, as I understand it, was made when -- when was the budget presentation made? 

     MR. LADANYI:  In December ‘04. 

     MR. WARREN:  So this report arrived at around the same time; is that right? 

     MR. LADANYI:  That's right.  

     MR. WARREN:  And you wouldn't have been aware of it, if a draft were earlier than that? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  We were aware what was going on, for sure.  I can't recall, off the top of my head, when the first draft was seen by anybody in our company, but it would have been during 2004, probably last quarter.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, what the AGF report says is that cast-iron, subject to higher -- I'm quoting, from the bottom of page 38:

“Cast iron is subject to a higher proportion of incidents from earth movement.” 

     Now --

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes.

     MR. WARREN:  I'm no engineer, but that's not - I apologize for the terrible pun - that’s not an

earth-shattering observation, is it?  You know that, that cast- iron is subject to a higher proportion of incidents from earth moving; correct? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes.  That's -- to characterize it in your words, not an earth-shattering announcement to me, either, no. 

     MR. WARREN:  Well am I wrong, sir, that there would be - please correct me if I'm wrong - that there is nothing in the 2005 AGF distribution safety study about breakage in cast-iron mains that you folks wouldn't have been aware of long since, from your year-over-year experience with replacement of cast-iron mains; is that not fair? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  I think that the magnitude of it, the proportionality of it, is probably different than we’d anticipated -- or would have thought it was, leading up to that.  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Mr. Warren, I think it’s important to understand, it's the deterioration of cast-iron that is of greatest concern.  

     Our program, over the years, has been used to assess the risk.  It looked at the areas, the soil conditions, which cast-iron was more prone to breakage, and we have had an extensive program of replacing.  

     When we discovered that that program was not keeping up with the deterioration, that's when it becomes a concern.  There are more than 1600 employees in our organization.  Various employees have various responsibilities, part of which is preparing a budget.  And, as Mr. Beaumont indicated, they would have prepared it based upon the policies.  

     We have senior management in this organization to take a look at what is required, what overall is needed to meet the needs.  We took all of those factors into account, and determined that replacement or accelerating replacement of cast-iron, at this point in time, is the most significant and most effective way to reduce the risk.  

     It only takes one break, one leak from that break, that would escape, somewhere, possibly into a building and an explosion.  And I can tell you, I am not comfortable with that risk.  And I believe that the citizens of this province are, also, not comfortable with that risk.  They rely on Enbridge Gas Distribution.  They don’t want to go around worrying about this day-to-day, because they believe we're doing the right thing.  

     Madam Chair, we're bringing the application that does the right thing.  I would look to the Board and to the people in this room to be able to support what I believe is reasonable and prudent to do.  

     MR. PLAYER:  If I could just add to Mr. Schultz's remarks, if we need a graphic illustration of earth movement, I don't think we need to look any further than this morning's paper, which showed - there’s a copy of it, right there - which shows our pipe hanging, after earth movement took place, after that tremendous rainstorm and, I guess, tornado, in parts of Ontario last Friday.  

     MR. WARREN:  Could you just hold that picture up again, please, Mr. Schultz?  Is the pipe broken in that picture? 

     MR. PLAYER:  It's not.  It's reinforced pipe.  It is not cast-iron pipe.  What if that had happened in a cast-iron area? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Besides, I mean -- this is, somewhat, an aside, but beside our two steel mains in there, was a cast-iron water main that is completely gone.  

     MR. WARREN:  Can I ask you just to turn up the data that appears on page 39 of 60.  

     Mr. Beaumont, CN means what? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Cast-iron.   

     MR. WARREN:  And this is an analysis of cast-iron main breaks and cast-iron main leaks, over the period 1997 to 2002 first, and then, in the second box, annual leaks and normalized leak averages.  

     This data was prepared by you after a conversation with Mr. Schultz in December of '04; is that right? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  This presentation was prepared by my staff after that conversation, but the data is collected on an ongoing basis.  

     MR. WARREN:  You would have been collecting this data, I suggest to you, for years; correct?

     MR. BEAUMONT:  This is true.  

     MR. WARREN:  So you would have been aware of this data over all of the years in which you were saying to the Board that our system is safe.  You were saying to the public that our system is safe.  And you were coming in here with annual budget amounts for mains replacement.  You would have been aware of all of this data long since; correct? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  This is correct.  

     MR. WARREN:  All right.  Now, all of a sudden, in December of '04, in the last two weeks, data you'd been aware of for a long time suddenly becomes the trigger for a four-fold increase and these, if I may characterize them, dramatic statements here, in this hearing, about threats to the public safety.  Have I got the chronology correctly, Mr. Beaumont? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  I don't think so.  I think that the correct chronology is that, you know, we have continually been assessing our plant.  When we look at something like cast-iron, certainly, breaks and leaks is an ongoing concern.  

     We've been trying to get more sophisticated in assessing what that means.  I spoke earlier yesterday about assessing the cast-iron system on a more holistic basis than we had in the past, and that included the effect and the impact of services.  

     Our concerns about services were absolutely heightened over the last couple of years, because of incidents that we did have in our company. 

     So this is not a wake-up one morning, and arrive at a new conclusion on the same set of data.  This is an evolving understanding of the threats to our system.  And we came to the conclusion that we were at a point where we had really no alternative but to try to get rid of this plant as quickly as we could, in order to satisfy ourselves that we were doing the right things with respect to protecting the public, from a -- with respect to the nature of our system.  That's the chronology.  

     MR. WARREN:  Certainly you and I can agree, Mr. Beaumont, that whatever it is that the AGF study told you, they told you -- that study told you information that you had already known, and you had been studying for some time; correct? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  The AGF study validated some information we had about our own system, provided additional information on the nature of what others were experiencing, and it absolutely became a contributor -- or, at least, something that validated the decision that we had taken.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, the second program rationale, panel, at page 38 of 60, is legislative changes, to further increase the exposure associated with the CI system.  And it says: 

“Distribution integrity legislation is being tabled in Canada and in the United States.”  

     Now, if I could ask you, in that context, panel, to turn up your pre-filed evidence at Exhibit A5 -- sorry, Exhibit A -- sorry, Exhibit 5 -- I was up too late last night, and I apologize, panel, for bumbling around on this. Exhibit A5, tab 5, schedule 1.  

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, beginning at page 5, paragraph 11 --  

     MS. NOWINA:  Give us just a second, Mr. Warren.  

     MR. WARREN:  All right.  

     MS. NOWINA:  What page was it, Mr. Warren? 

     MR. WARREN:  Beginning at page 5 of 9.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, in paragraph 11, you talk about -- or the company talks about:

“The program also reflects increasing attention by regulators, testing on safety oversight and assessing the effectiveness of Canada’s integrity-management activities.”  

     And then you go on to detail a number of developments.  

     Just so that we -- in fairness to you, when you say, on page 38 of 60 of the exhibit we were just looking at -- that’s Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 16, page 38 of 60 -- “legislative changes”, did the board conclude that the legislative changes being referred to there are the ones that are detailed at tab 5, schedule 1, Exhibit A5, tab 5, schedule 1, page 5 and 6 of 9?  

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes.  I think that, principally, it refers to the distribution-integrity legislation.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, the distribution-integrity legislation that you are referring to, in Canada, is what? 


MR. BEAUMONT:  It is something that's being worked on by CSA committees, on an ongoing basis.


MR. WARREN:  Let's just parse, if we can, what is contained in page A5, tab 5, schedule 1.


First, there is, beginning at the bottom of the

page 5:

"In Canada natural gas distribution integrity is being reviewed by the Canadian Standards Association with the potential for the establishment of distribution integrity standards."


Now, my understanding, Mr. Beaumont - and you certainly would have a more detailed understanding of this - is that in 2003, the CSA indicated that it had changed or was proposing to change pipeline standards, pipeline integrity standards; is that correct?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I will take your word for it.  I'm not sure what you're referring to, exactly.


MR. WARREN:  Well, what I would like you to tell me, sir, is that the Canadian Standards Association documents have no legislative effect unless they're adopted by some government; correct?


MR. BEAUMONT:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, are you telling me, Mr. Beaumont, that there is some CSA standard on pipeline integrity which has been or is about to be adopted for this province?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I would say it depends on your definition "about to be adopted".  I believe that there will be distribution integrity legislation adopted in this province within the period of time -- I'm not sure.  It could be one year; it would be two; it could be three.


MR. WARREN:  It could be three years.  And do you know if when it's adopted, sir, whether it will have a time-line for compliance?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I do not know.


MR. WARREN:  Has Enbridge Gas Distribution made any submissions to the CSA on what the pipeline integrity code should consist of and what the time-line should be for its application?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I think I mentioned yesterday in my direct that one of the things that we do is participate actively on the Canadian Standards Association committees that are working on the development of those codes.


So do we submit formal submissions?  I would say, no.  We submit formal opinions through our participation on those committees.


MR. WARREN:  What I would like to know, Mr. Beaumont, is the evidence you have in support of the ‑‑ of a change in the CSA standard and the adoption of that, that would be adopted here.  Will you take this subject to check?  It would be adopted by the Technical Standards & Safety Authority and applied in Ontario; is that your understanding?


MR. BEAUMONT:  That's correct.  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Now, is it your evidence under oath that there is a change which -- CSA code that will be adopted by the TSSA with a time line that requires you to have a mains replacement program that goes from seven years to three years?  Is that your evidence?


MR. BEAUMONT:  No, that is not my evidence.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, moving on, then, to the second item which is mentioned in the second of the items mentioned.  This is on page 6 of 9 in Exhibit A5, tab 5 schedule 1.  It is about halfway through the paragraph:

"In Ontario the requirement for a formal pipeline integrity management program was contained in the oil and gas pipeline systems code adoption document issued by the Technical Standards & Safety Authority in June of 2001."


Have I correctly read that, Mr. Beaumont?


MR. BEAUMONT:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, the requirement was that you have a formal pipeline integrity management program, and my recollection from earlier Enbridge Gas Distribution cases is that Enbridge has, in fact, adopted its own pipeline integrity management program in compliance with that requirement; is that fair?


MR. BEAUMONT:  That's fair.


MR. WARREN:  And that's been in place for how long; two years, three years?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Roughly two years.


MR. WARREN:  So when you talk about the TSSA requirement, that is something that you've already complied with; correct?  This TSSA requirement ‑‑


MR. BEAUMONT:  This TSSA requirement we have complied with, yes.


MR. WARREN:  So it is not, in and of itself, a pressing ‑‑ it would not require you to move from a mains replacement program of seven years to three years, would it?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I think that's a matter of debate, actually, because, you know, the fact that you have legislation that is being considered and being developed by the people who are active in this industry throughout the province ‑‑ or throughout the country ‑‑


MR. WARREN:  Sorry, I apologize for this.  Lawyers niggle about this, but when we talk about legislation being considered, are we talking about what the CSA is doing?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  And it's not legislation, is it?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Fair enough.


MR. WARREN:  It has to be adopted by someone?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Fair enough, fair enough.  But the point of debate that I wanted to suggest is that, you know, it would not be in the way that I would want to go about my business to say that if people are working on considerations to look at a different way of operating your plant because of the conditions that exist or that may exist with that plant -- you know, I would never come to Mr. Schultz and say, you know, We should be doing this, but let's wait until the legislation makes us do it.  I mean, that is part of ‑‑ that's part of what the debate is.  


So does the fact that the legislation is not ‑‑ doesn't formally -- hasn't been formally adopted within the province cause us not to go ahead and do what we believe is the right thing to do with this?


MR. WARREN:  Well, I thought -- I apologize for this, but I thought you and I were in agreement a few minutes ago, Mr. Beaumont, that whatever the CSA is doing, you don't know whether or not it will require you to change your mains in three years, seven years, or 25 years, do you?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Fair enough.  What I believe it will do, though, is ask and demand of us that we look after our plant in the way that we think is the most effective way to protect the public safety.


MR. SCHULTZ:  Mr. Warren, if I could for a moment, could I take you to that same page you have been referring to, page 38, and look at the top box above the bottom box?  I first of all commend you for raising the safety issue and bringing it to the attention of the Board, because I think this is a very serious issue and I'm sure you're concerned about the safety for your customers.  


But if you can see in the first bullet point, 78 percent of all leaks and 100 percent of all main breaks is due to cast-iron and bare-steel.  


I'm sure that you would be as concerned as I am to remove such a significant system integrity issue, to ensure that those are reduced for the safety of the residents of this province.


I am concerned when you have those kind of statistics, and as quickly as I can eliminate cast-iron and bare-steel, I will do that.  If Mr. Beaumont could do it in a year, that's what I would require, regardless of when any legislation is put in place and approved.


MR. WARREN:  You and I can agree, Mr. Schultz, that if it would also be a concern for you not to frighten the people of this province with a risk which -- by overstating that risk.  You and I can agree on that, can't we, Mr. Schultz?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I can agree that that is our responsibility and we would like to be given that opportunity to fulfil it.


MR. WARREN:  Going back to, again, the rationale, which is program rationale which is at page 38 of 60, and combining this with paragraph -- Exhibit A5, tab 5, schedule 1.


You refer, Mr. Beaumont, at the top of the page to:

"The enactment of the federal Bill C45, as amended under the code, reinforces obligations on the company and its management with respect to addressing safety issues related to utility operation."


Now, can you agree with me, subject to check, that the Criminal Code provisions which came into effect in March of 2004, the relevant section ‑ and I'm not asking you for a legal opinion on this - is section 217.1, which makes it an offence for a person who undertakes a task in a way which ‑‑ sorry, without taking reasonable steps to prevent bodily harm to that person or any other person arising from the work or task.  That is the obligation that we're talking about; is that right?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I believe that is probably the reference.


MR. WARREN:  Now, can you tell me, sir, do you have an opinion of counsel, either internal or external, that your mains replacement program, as it existed up to now, would expose you to a risk under section 217.1 of the Criminal Code?


MR. CASS:  Well, Madam Chair, if they did have such an opinion of counsel, either external or internal, it would be subject to solicitor-client privilege, in my submission.


MR. WARREN:  My difficulty, Madam Chair, is that -- I mean, I take Mr. Cass's point, but the evidence is that the obligations imposed by Bill C45 impose such a risk they have to accelerate their mains replacement program from seven to three years.  And they're asking this Board to approve a material increase in the amount spent on the mains replacement program.


I think that this Board is entitled to know whether or not ‑‑ they can't just waive C45 and say, This is such a risk that we have to spend this much more money, without knowing whether or not they have got an opinion from counsel saying they have to change this program from seven to three years in order to ensure compliance.  


Surely that's a legitimate enquiry on our part to see whether or not they have got an opinion from counsel.  


 [The Board confers]

     MS. NOWINA:  Just to clarify, Mr. Warren, is your question, Did they receive an opinion on this, or, what was the opinion? 

     MR. WARREN:  Let's - two of three.  Number 3 was going to be "can I have the opinion", but my question was, Did you get an opinion of counsel that the existing mains-replacement program exposed the company to risk for prosecution under section 217.1.  The second question was, What was the opinion, and then I was going to ask for the opinion.  

     MS. NOWINA:  I think the first part can probably be asked.   Mr. Cass, do you have -- do you have a problem with Mr. Warren asking the first part, Did they get an opinion? 

     MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, it is a very delicate subject, and it is hard for me to even comment on it on the record, without causing myself concerns about the delicacy.  

     These are, essentially, issues about potential future liability.  To have the witnesses here, commenting under oath about these issues, I think, is extremely prejudicial, if I can put it that way -- in the event -- the, hopefully, very remote and unlikely event that those issues ever do arise in the future, that these witnesses have been put on the spot here, today, to comment, under oath, about them.  

     I guess that's as delicately as I can put it.  Subject to that, I have expressed the concerns that I have.  I agree with you, Madam Chair, that the first of the three questions is definitely far less harmless and far less of a solicitor-client privilege concern than the second two questions, if that's what you're asking me.  

     Again, it is not that the company has anything whatsoever to hide on this.  The company is very eager to have the Board know its concerns.  But, then, to build some sort of a record, here, about liability issues that may arise in the future, I just think is very prejudicial, and something that has to be handled very delicately.  

     MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair -- 

     MR. CASS:  I'm not sure if I made that clear, because -- I’m sorry, Madam Chair.

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  

     Let's hear from Mr. Warren. 

     Mr. Warren?

     MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, the difficulty I have - and, I’m going to suggest, the Board has - is this, is that when a reference to something is as significant as potential Criminal Code liability it’s the regulatory equivalent of waiving a bloody shirt.  This is offered as a rationale for changing the program from 7 to 3 years, with significant increases in costs.  

     And I say, with respect to Mr. Cass, if you're going to -- if his client is going to rely on this argument, the Board is entitled to know what the substance of it is.  Is there a material underlying concern that the existing mains replacement program exposes them to a risk of prosecution under section 217.1, or not?

     I think the Board is entitled to have that information, and that is the highest I can put the argument.    

[The Board confers] 

     MS. NOWINA:  We've conferred a little on it, Mr. Warren, and our view is that the applicant has filed its evidence in the way it has filed it.  We can draw whatever conclusions we can from the evidence that they’ve filed, without the information that they don't want to provide.  

     If they should decide to file something, then we can treat that confidentially.  But I think it’s the applicant's decision to file as they have filed.  

     MR. WARREN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

     Now, my final area of examination is the -- actually two areas.  One, are the financial implications of this proposal, and, also, to see if we can agree on what the policy issues are, arising from this.  

     With respect to the financial matters, panel, if you could turn up Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 16, page 44.  

     First of all, at the top of that -- do you have it, panel? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, we have it.  

     MR. WARREN:  First of all, at the top of the page, in the first box, we've got “Program OEB Risks” - my friend, Mr. Thompson, is giving me oxygen, here; the good news is I can't read his writing - but that's “Program OEB Risks.”  

     And perhaps, Mr. Ladanyi, you could just take me through the nature of these risks.  The first item is “Failure to obtain OEB rate relief.”  What is that?

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Perhaps I could address that one.  Essentially, what we were referring to there is, we've now come forward and made the case that this is what needs to be done.  And if the OEB did not grant the rate relief for this, we would have to deal with it.  Because we had made the case, and that's, basically, what that referred to.  

     MR. LADANYI:  Maybe I can add a little bit here, Mr. Warren.  To put this whole issue into perspective, and a good way to look at it is -- if I can turn your attention to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 74, which is Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 74, page 8.  If I can just have a moment while everybody turns it up.  

     So it is Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 74, page 8.   And you will see at the bottom of that page -- does everyone have it yet? 

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, we do.  

     MR. LADANYI:  At the bottom of that page, Madam Chair, you will see that, on table 1, we show the impact on revenue requirement of a three-year program.  And you notice that the total impact is $3.5 million.  So this is the incremental impact of accelerating the bare steel and cast-iron program.  So it’s $3.5 million annual impact.  

     And you have to put that in perspective of 1.7 customers.  So we're talking about $2 a customer per year.  So this is, approximately, the cost of a large coffee downstairs at Timothy’s.  This is what the incremental cost is -- for one cup of one large coffee at Timothy’s, they will have the accelerated cast-iron replacement program.  I think, when you weigh this comparison, the additional improvement and safety, for the population and for us, also, improvement of the reliability of our whole system, it is well worth the price.  

     Now this is, of course, a rule-of-thumb thing, and, obviously, the rate impact for each rate class will be different.  I'm just giving you a rule-of-thumb:  roughly, $3.5 million divided by $1.7 million -- at least, 1.7 million customers.  So it’s hardly an exorbitant rate increase that we're talking about, here. 

     MR. WARREN:  Well, thank you, for answering a question I didn't ask, Mr. Ladanyi.  

     But let me turn back to the answer Mr. Beaumont gave me, which is the question of failure to obtain OEB rate relief.  

     And you’re saying, Mr. Ladanyi -- Mr. Beaumont, as I understand it, that, having raised the spectre of risk to public safety, you feel obliged to go to a three-year program, whether the Board grants the relief or not. 


MR. BEAUMONT:  We're going to have to figure out how we deal with that absolutely.  What that looks like, whether it is increased inspections, whether it is something else, I don't know.  We will have to deal with it, because we have raised it because we believe it is right.  Whatever the decision is of this Board doesn't change my opinion or, I believe, Mr. Schultz's opinion on whether that is right, or not.


MR. WARREN:  Now, the second of the two items in the program OEB risk, the need to avoid triggering leave to construct applications, that's what LTC stands for; is that correct?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Ladanyi, what is the nature of that concern?


MR. LADANYI:  I presume if there was a lengthy leave to construct process required before every replacement, this is going to be bogged down in the regulatory process.


MR. WARREN:  The need to avoid triggering OEB review of postal stamp rates, what's the nature of that concern?


MR. LADANYI:  The issue here would be that cast-iron is located primarily in the City of Toronto.  Bare-steel is in -- essentially east of Toronto and it's -- some in Niagara, I understand.  So the issue of postal stamp rates is that possibly customers in other parts of our franchise area would not have to pay for those, that somehow the rates would be only isolated, the rate increase, to the City of Toronto.


MR. WARREN:  So the concern would be a cross-subsidy from the non ‑‑


MR. LADANYI:  Correct, yes.


MR. WARREN:  The need to defend the difference between today's plan and the approach outlined to the Board in EBRO 487490, that was the persuasive argument that you presented that a seven-year mains replacement program was appropriate; is that right, Mr. Ladanyi?


MR. LADANYI:  I believe, yes, we had a program there to come forward ‑‑ and I don't have it in front of me now, so it's just working from memory here.  I believe it had to do with replacing mains on -- that were -– cast-iron mains which were operating under higher pressure at that time.  So we had a program whereby we started with those, and the program was to replace those immediately and that's what we did.  And then the rest of the mains were to be replaced over a longer period of time.  


And that's what we indicated, I believe, in those proceedings.


MR. WARREN:  Now, Mr. Ladanyi, let me get to the question which you have been kind enough to answer in advance, sort of a prequel to your answer.  Let me get to the question.


If you could turn up Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 16, page 48, and then 49?  First of all, page 48, the annual revenue requirement, and you've got a status quo, which is the seven years, and you've got the accelerated program which is being proposed.


This is an annual revenue requirement.  Can you just explain to me what this table means?


MR. LADANYI:  Well, the revenue requirement is the cost of operating the gas distribution utility each year, so it is on an annual basis.  And our financial analyst did a calculation.  And here it shows that the customers are better off on the longer-term basis with an accelerated program.  So it shows after 2011 they're better off.


MR. WARREN:  But in the short‑term, the revenue requirement is higher on that accelerated program?


MR. LADANYI:  Correct.  Exactly.  So that there is a short‑term impact between 2005 and 2011, and then there is a longer-term benefit.


MR. WARREN:  Now, on the next page, 49, you have got the rate impact per customer.  And as I read this, the rate impact per customer peaks sometime in '07, '08 at, what, $18 per customer?


MR. LADANYI:  Correct.


MR. WARREN:  That's, I think, a couple of coffees of Starbucks, not just one.


MR. LADANYI:  Sure it is, absolutely.


MR. WARREN:  But it is more than the buck and a half you were just talking about?


MR. LADANYI:  I was talking about 2006, only.  That's what Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 74 shows.


MR. WARREN:  So the ‑‑ so in 2009 - let's take that - the impact per customer is $18 under the accelerated program, as opposed to 13-1/2 or 13.75 under the decelerated one; is that fair?


MR. LADANYI:  So it's the difference between the two we would be talking about.  Still not a lot of money when you think about it.


MR. WARREN:  Now, just looking at the financial perspective, the bottom box on page 44, if you could turn to that, we have got three items there.  The first is:

"The program has no incremental customer additions.  Entire revenue requirement burden is on the existing ratepayers."


I've only been at this for a tiny fraction of the period of time Mr. Thompson has been at this, but is it fair to use the old-fashioned phrase "inter-generational fairness" when we talk about this issue?


MR. LADANYI:  Certainly.


MR. WARREN:  So the folks today are paying for a benefit which they may not receive, but which somebody else will receive down the road; fair?


MR. LADANYI:  Well, this is the nature of the utility business.  Essentially, the utility is to be there essentially forever, and you're going to have customers dying and customers being born and you will have essentially cross -- inter-generational cross-subsidies continuously.  


A lot of the mains - for example, I believe you live in an older part of the city - were built years ago and they were -- there probably are customers who are long gone who have paid for the mains in front of your house.  That is how it works.  That's how the whole system works.


MR. WARREN:  But you felt it -- I don't mean you, but Enbridge thought it was a material policy issue that needed to be addressed or arose out of this particular proposal, and that's why it appears in this box; correct?


MR. LADANYI:  I didn't prepare this presentation and, in fact, I did not see it until roughly the time of filing, but I presume that was the intent.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, the second of the financial perspective issues is the need to balance between safety and ratepayer impact, and I can take it you and I can agree, panel, that this is a policy issue which the Board has to resolve when it considers this application; correct?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Correct.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, if I can ‑‑ just as a technical matter, if you go over to page 47 of 60, this appears to be a slide presentation which repeats the same information; is that correct, Mr. Schultz or Mr. Beaumont.


MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes.  I believe so.


MR. WARREN:  And this slide presentation on page 47 was made by whom and to whom?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I believe the three slides are an attachment to an e‑mail that was prepared by Sagar Kancharla, and then that was just imported into the presentation that was done that appears before that.


MR. WARREN:  Now, on the issue of the need to balance between safety and ratepayer impact, I take it we can acknowledge, from the evidence, that there will be an impact on ratepayers on going from a three- to a seven-year; correct?


MR. LADANYI:  Correct.  There would be a financial impact on ratepayers.  But what we're trying to say is the Board should not only consider the financial impact.  The Board should also consider issues of reliability and safety, as well, when thinking of ratepayer impact.  And all of these should be addressed in balance.


MR. WARREN:  Can you tell me, panel, in light of the ratepayer impact, what considerations, if any, Enbridge made to reducing its capital budget in other areas to offset this rate impact?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Well, I think the answer to that is we didn't.  We go back to what I said yesterday, is that the needs of the company are prepared, and then we prepare solutions and projects to meet those needs.


This is one element of that, and the other ones ‑‑ the fact that this exists doesn't diminish the other needs that exist in the company.


MR. PLAYER:  If I could just add to Mr. Beaumont's comments on that, that's a recurring activity that we have in the company, to reduce the amount of capital costs and, hence, burden on the ratepayer.


I will give you just a few examples of some of those kinds of things we've done over the years.


MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair.  My question was fairly narrow and specific, and Mr. Player is now about to give me a little speechette about other areas.  In my respectful submission, it's not appropriate.  It is not relevant.  It is not responsive to the question I asked.  Mr. Beaumont gave me a straighten-end answer to it, and I would ask the Board to direct Mr. Player not to give the speech.


MR. CASS:  Well, Madam Chair, if I might have a chance to comment on this, in my respectful submission, Mr. Warren is perfectly entitled to keep his questions just as narrow as he possibly can, and that often happens on cross‑examination and, of course, is the goal of a cross-examiner.  However, in my submission, the witnesses, if they have relevant information that might be of use to the Board, should not be confined to a very, very narrow response to each and every question.  If that were the case, Madam Chair, I'm not sure how the Board would get the relevant information that it needs.


This was a question about what the company would have done to find ways to reduce capital in other areas, and Mr. Player is giving a general answer, or was trying to, about what the company has been doing to reduce capital.


I don't think that that is beyond the scope of relevant information that the Board would want to have in response to the type of question that was asked.


MS. NOWINA:  You're right, Mr. Cass, the test is relevancy, and I guess we won't know how relevant it is until we hear it.  I would ask the panel to please maintain their answers to answer the question and ensure that it is, indeed, directly relevant to the question asked.


MR. PLAYER:  May I complete my answer, then?


MS. NOWINA:  If it's directly relevant to the question asked, yes.


MR. PLAYER:  Well, I think the question, at least as I heard it from Mr. Warren, was, what things the company is doing to reduce capital.  Did I have that wrong.

     MR. WARREN:  That wasn't the question.  Madam Chair, the question I asked was, in light of the ratepayer impacts, what steps did the company take to reduce its capital budget in other areas, in order to offset those.  And I got an answer from Mr. Beaumont which was admirably succinct and direct, and he said “nothing.” 

     And the danger is that an answer which is given in cross-examination then gets blurred beyond all recognition by an answer which -- I've made my point, Madam Chair. 

     MS. NOWINA:  I agree you have, Mr. Warren.  And Mr. Player, if your answer is in response to that direct question, then that's fine. 

     MR. PLAYER:  It is, because I think Mr. Beaumont was speaking from the perspective of the engineering department, and I'm taking the perspective of the entire company.  

     One of the things we're presently doing is taking our IT systems off our mainframe, which is going to save significant dollars, in terms of capital costs.  Another thing that we're doing right now is, we’ve got a strategic-sourcing purchasing-type program that we’ve put in place, which is also reducing the amount of capital quite significantly, versus what we would have spent had we not put that project in place.  

     I could go on with others, but in the interests of time, I will stop it there.  

     MR. WARREN:  My final set of questions, Mr. Schultz, since you're here as a member of the policy panel, is if you and I can agree that the proposal on the capital side to increase the budget on the mains replacement gives rise to, among others, the following policy issues.  

     Would you agree that one of the policy issues that the Board has to decide is whether or not there is sufficient evidence presented that the accelerated mains program is a necessary and appropriate response to any evidence of threat to public safety.   Would you agree with that? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes, I do.  

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Would you agree that one of the policy issues that the Board has to resolve is whether or not the appropriate trade-offs have been made within Enbridge to address the issue of inter-generational fairness which was raised in your evidence?  Do you agree with that?  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I'm not sure I fully understood that.  Could you rephrase that for me, please?  

     MR. WARREN:  The question - I'll repeat it - is:  one of the policy issues the Board has to resolve arising out of this proposal is whether or not, in light of the inter-generational unfairness which has been raised - Mr. Ladanyi and I talked about it -- whether or not Enbridge has made sufficient trade-offs in its budget in order to appropriately address the inter-generational unfairness issue.  Would you agree with me that is a policy issue which arises out of this issue? 

     MR. LADANYI:  It certainly is a policy issue.  However, I think EI has to keep in mind that the cast -- many of the cast-iron mains were in operation before 1900.  So there is no way for us to charge those customers who were on the mains, let's say, in 1920s, 1910s, 1930s, who were obtaining gas service -- we cannot charge them, now; they're gone, you know?  So we have no choice, we have to look at the current customers to pay for those costs.  It's really quite unreasonable to say that we could somehow be able to shift costs into the past.  

     So, yes, there are inter-generational concerns, but -- however, there is virtually nothing that can be done about them.  

     MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions for this panel.  Thank you.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  

     We will have a 15-minute break, now, returning at 10 o'clock.  

     I believe, Mr. Shepherd, that you will be next.  

     I’m sorry, at 10 minutes to 11:00.  

     Mr. Shepherd, you will be next. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     We will now adjourn.  

--- Recess taken at 10:35 a.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 10:55 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Did any matters come up during the break?  No.

Mr. Shepherd, would you like to proceed.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  For the benefit of those who are interested, I do not think I will be finished by lunchtime, but -- in fact, that would be miraculous if I was, but I don't expect to go too long in the afternoon.


Let me start you, Mr. Player.  You said in your direct evidence, and I am quoting you, "the old rules of setting the rate increases in line with customer growth and inflation simply do not apply."


I take it you're not proposing some sort of new regulatory rules.  I take it that, rather, what you're intending ‑ and correct me if I'm wrong ‑ is that the Board in this case sort of press the reset button and look at your O&M and capital budgets from the ground up; is that a fair characterization?


MR. PLAYER:  Well, we did that with our capital budget in terms of a zero base, but we don't do that with the O&M budget.


With the O&M budget we look at ‑‑ because a lot of it is pretty standard year after year and the linearity does work.  So what we're trying to get across there is that there are a number of new impinging factors on how we run our business that we had to address, and I won't repeat them again for the sake of trying to get this over a little quicker.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're saying, then, the default is ‑‑ for O&M, the default is inflate the numbers, but then add additional amounts for those additional ‑‑ what you called extraordinary pressures; right?


MR. PLAYER:  That's perhaps close, but not quite.


We don't just take that base net inflation, and I know that is probably what I said.  It's take the base.  It's their opportunity for productivity savings within that, find those, address those, look at customer growth on top of that, and then on top of that, if there are any new pressures, then you would reset the budget.  


One quick example - I have got to get this one in - with regard to productivity on the customer care front, where we did find, I think, approximately $3 million of productivity savings specifically offsetting those pressures that we saw on bad debt and credit and collections costs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now -- so for both O&M and capital, though, you're not suggesting that they only look at the increases in costs; right?  You're also suggesting that they look at new factors in both directions; right?


MR. PLAYER:  Absolutely, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example, you have proposed some decreases, and, for example, EnVision is going to drive some -- drive some costs down; isn't that right?


MR. PLAYER:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And, in addition, the Board can also identify on their own, from your evidence, things where they think that perhaps you can drive costs down below inflation, or even down in a nominal way; right?


MR. PLAYER:  If there's opportunities to reduce costs, we're happy to hear them from any source.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I'm going to come back to those things in a little more detail in a second, but let's just ‑‑ can you take a look at I, 5, 25, please, and particularly page 21 of that?  That's page ‑‑ I lied.  What I'm looking at is actually page 12.


MR. PLAYER:  So is that part of the presentation?


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  This is the front page of the presentation entitled "2006 Regulatory Budget".


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Shepherd, what was the reference again?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I, 5, 25; Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 25, page 12.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you see that?


MR. PLAYER:  Yes, I've got that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So just explain to us, can you, please, how does a regulatory budget differ from a real budget?


MR. PLAYER:  Tom, would you like to ‑‑


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  Well, a regulatory budget is prepared for the purpose of rate filing.  The corporate budget is prepared in the later time frame.  So regulatory budget has to be prepared in -- sufficiently in advance of the start of the test year so that we can have rates in place at the start of the test year.


Corporate budget doesn't have that requirement, so it could be prepared later.  Just a second, if I could also explain to you, both budgets are real budgets, but they differ by the time frame.  Secondly, a regulatory budget includes only items that are part of, essentially, rate recovery.  Corporate budget would include other non‑utility items, as well, that would not impact rates, at all.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Those latter things are pretty limited right now, given your undertakings, aren't they?


MR. PLAYER:  One of the examples that we would have had from the time that that -- I guess the regulatory budget was put forward to our final budget would have been sort of these compliance, governance Sarbanes‑Oxley types of costs.  I know in that budget, in particular, we had, I think it was, a $300,000 increase in the finance department that related to that.  By the time we did our final budget, there were additional costs required of a further $700,000, which took sort of SOCS-related issues up a million dollars year over year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So what you do is, more than a year before your rate year, you do a budget process to get to a regulatory budget, which is the basis of your application; right?  You have to for timing purposes?


MR. LADANYI:  We have to, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then ‑‑ I'm going to jump ahead, because I know in the interim you do some budgeting, as well.  But it is true, isn't it, that once the Board makes its decision, or you settle or whatever, you know how much money you have to work with and you prepare what I've characterized as a real budget, but a working budget, if you like, for the rate year; isn't that right?


MR. LADANYI:  Ideally, if we have the Board decision known to us before we prepare the corporate budget, obviously we will include those items in the corporate budget with respect to revenues, but they could also be ‑‑ because there is a time difference between the two budgets, there could be additional cost pressures that would have come to light between the time that the regulatory budget was prepared and the time that the corporate budget is prepared.  They may be included, as well, even though they might not have been known at the time the regulatory budget was prepared.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The question wasn't actually a trap, Mr. Ladanyi.


MR. LADANYI:  I just wanted to clarify it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Really what I am trying to get at is ‑ and I saw Mr. Player nodding ‑ is you have to know what your revenues are going to be in order to figure out how much you have to spend.  You have to live within your means; right?


MR. LADANYI:  Ideally.  Like I said, ideally it would be good to know what the revenues are, but because of the nature of the regulatory process, sometimes that's not possible and we have to do our best forecast at the time that the corporate budget is due.  We may not have Board's decision in hand in time.  So some years we may not be able to do that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the corporate budget for 2006, is it already done?


MR. LADANYI:  We're in the process.  We're working on the corporate budget for 2006 now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Player, this is your responsibility; right?


MR. PLAYER:  Mr. Ladanyi specific, and Mr. Ladanyi is in my department.  So we team up on this. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so the corporate budget is actually your responsibility, Mr. Ladanyi?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I'm manager of budgets and planning, and my staff is working together with staffs of other company departments putting together the corporate budget for 2006.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  So the process of doing the real budget involves -- or, sorry, the corporate budget - let's call it the corporate budget - involves rethinking the individual line items and making trade-offs between what you think you will actually have to spend and what you originally planned to spend; right?


MR. LADANYI:  Let me again explain to the ‑‑ the difficulty with this process.  Let's say if we were preparing this budget as we did the regulatory budget essentially in September, October and November of 2004, we had certain information that was available to us at that time.


Now that we are working on ‑‑ and that was the 2006 budget.  So we were essentially a year and several months ahead with 2006.


Now we are really five months away from 2006, we have more up‑to‑date information.  So our departments will look at their costs.  They will look at the ‑‑ what cost pressures they are facing.  They will look at, for example, the revenues they're likely to have, and they will then adjust their numbers to that effect.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you tell the Board you need $20 million for a particular category of expenses, and the Board in the end in its decision says, No, we don't agree.  We think you only need $18.  Then you have to re-think your priorities; right?  You have to decide either (a) to spend 20 anyway and find the 2 million somewhere else; spend $18, which is what the Board thought was appropriate; or perhaps even spend $16 because you needed a couple of million for something else that was cut; right?

     MR. PLAYER:  There is one other alternative in that, and that would be spend $20, and don't find it someplace else, and eat it.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You’d get it from the shareholder. 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That is a possibility.  That would cause your ROE to dip below the Board-allowed amount, right. 

     MR. PLAYER:  It would.   

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That hasn't happened recently. 

     MR. PLAYER:  We don't like that it do that too often. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the shareholder doesn't like you to do it, does it? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Neither do we. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Most of the time what you do is you shuffle your priorities.  And I don’t mean “shuffle” in a pejorative sense.  I mean you have to re-think your priorities to reduce one cost, in order to keep another at the level you feel is appropriate; right? 

     MR. PLAYER:  I think that's a fair assumption.  You try to do that in a budgeting process, Mr. Shepherd. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So what I don't understand is, you come to the Board and say, We need $20 million for X.  And the Board says, No, we think it's 18.  And you say, in the end, You know what?  We're only going to spend 16, because we need this money somewhere else.  That happens, right? 

     MR. PLAYER:  I'm sure it has happened in the past, yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  When that happens, why didn't -- why wouldn't people ask, legitimately, Why didn't you say 16 in the first place, if that's all you really needed? 

     MR. PLAYER:  I think the answer to that is pretty clear.  It's a dynamic business, and it's not static.  You don't walk in, at a point in time, and say you know exactly what’s going to take place in your year.  And so, as in factors change during the year, you re-jig your budget to still make it work.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now for 2005, you asked for a certain O&M -- a certain overall budget from the Board, and didn't get quite what you wanted, in the final analysis, with your settlement and everything; right? 

     MR. PLAYER:  That is correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And as a result of that, and as a result of your corporate budgeting process in 2004, for the 2005 year, you had a corporate budget which you had to work to, and you're working to, right now; right? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, that's right.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Has that been filed in this proceeding, that corporate budget? 

     MR. PLAYER:  I believe not.  

     MR. LADANYI:  We filed portions of the corporate budget that were requested in IGUA’s interrogatory.  If you will give me a moment, I can find it for you.  We filed a reconciliation between the corporate budget and the regulatory budget for 2005.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, but you've only filed position portions of it? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Certainly.  That's what the interrogatory asked for.  You asked for O&M and capital, and that's what we filed. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there any reason why you can't file the whole corporate budget? 

     MR. LADANYI:  That would actually be a revenue forecast for the year.  We do not -- essentially, an earnings forecast, we really shouldn't be disclosing to the public.  That would probably be in contravention of securities concerns about that. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Could we, then, have that filed on a confidential basis? 

     MS. NOWINA:  To be clear, Mr. Shepherd, you're asking for the revenue portion of the budget? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm asking for the whole corporate budget.   What we're trying to figure out is, after there were decisions about what should be spent in 2005, what they actually decided to do.  And, of course, we have estimates, now, of what they're doing this year.  And that will allow us to understand what they're proposing for 2006, how it relates to what they really are doing -- working to in 2005.  

     MS. NOWINA:  My understanding of Mr. Ladanyi's response is that the operating and the capital budget have been filed, and that all that is missing is the revenue portion.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that correct? 

     MR. LADANYI:  That's correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And do you have the reference for that?  I must have missed it.  

     MR. LADANYI:  It's Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 6.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I withdraw the request for an undertaking, then.  

     But, however, I'm not -- I'm still in undertaking mode.  

     Mr. Schultz, yesterday you said you had two strategic plans this year: one in January and one in February.  Do you recall that?

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I wouldn't characterize it as “two strategic plans”:  two planning sessions, all leading up to creating a strategic plan.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, let me just see if I can find the reference, and I’ll ask you to -- I’ll read it to you.  This is on page 60 of yesterday's transcript, and I'm reading from lines 19 through 21:  

"We have strategic plans.  We had two of them this year, one in January and one in February." 

     MR. PLAYER:  Just a moment, we haven't quite got it yet.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I’ve found the reference now. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You see that?  So, is that just a misstatement?  Is that --

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I did misspeak myself, yes.   We have strategic planning meetings.  We have a strategic plan.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that strategic plan is, in fact, filed already, isn't it? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it is.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I'm batting zero-for-two on undertakings.  

     Mr. Schultz, again, just to clean up a couple of things from yesterday.  Yesterday, you told Mr. Thompson that of your board of directors of seven, four have positions with EI, including yourself; is that right? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  That is correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And can you just remind us who the other three directors are?  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  The other three directors are Mr. Braithwaite, Mr. Fatt, and Mr. Martin. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, Mr. Martin is a former president of Enbridge; right? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  He was the former president of Consumers Gas, quite some years ago.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And Mr. Braithwaite and Mr. -- what was the second person? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Mr. Fatt.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Fatt.  Mr. Braithwaite and Mr. Fatt, are they connected in some way with Enbridge, as well? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I don't quite understand that question.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, as with Mr. Martin, who is a retired president -- 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  No.  They had not had any management responsibility, to my knowledge.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So they're truly independent directors. 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I think Mr. Martin is also truly independent, because he has been away from the Consumers Gas for a period of time that qualifies for him to be fully independent.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But even if he is included, you don't have an independent board, do you? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes, we do.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you have four people from -- 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  The definition of what is required that is an independent board.  We are required to have one-third of the members independent, and, yes, they are -- more than one-third are.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  

     So the majority of the people who are overseeing your operations are EI people? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  The majority, yes, correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yesterday, you talked about your reporting relationship with Mr. Letwin, of Enbridge -- 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Enbridge Inc.  And you particularly noted that you pick up the phone and call him for advice, and he picks up the phone and calls you from time to time, as well; right? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  That is correct.        

     MR. SHEPHERD:  There’s a lot of informal discussion, back and forth, so that you can assist each other in what your responsibilities are, right? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  That is correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  When you talked about the 2006 regulatory budget, once you finalize it, you said it was reviewed by the corporate leadership team, when it was done; right? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  The 2006 corporate budget has not yet been -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, regulatory budget.    

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I would have reviewed the highlights.  The application, itself, would have been reviewed with the corporate leadership team, yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Also, the actual regulatory budget was never presented to the CLT? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Not in its entirety, no.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  But it was discussed with Mr. Letwin on a regular basis, over the course of December, January and February; isn't that right? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Components of it would be, yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example, the 85 percent increase in your capital budget:  you talked to him about that at some length; right? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I do recall several conversations, in person and via telephone, that we would have talked about that, yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And your 16 percent increase in your O&M budget: you talked to him about that as well; right? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And during the course of those discussions, over those three months, I presume that he had inputs that you reflected in the budget; isn't that right? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  That's -- to the best of my recollection, yes, he would have, as he typically would.  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  

     Moving to another area, am I right that your customer-care costs are now $119.6 million, after you deduct the $2.7 million CIS adjustment; is that right? 

     MR. PLAYER:  I'm so good at my math.  Just a second here.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's why you had finance -- 

     MR. PLAYER:  That's right.  So that makes it, I believe -- 119.5, did you say? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I had 119.6.  I just took 2.7 off the 122.3 that you have in your -- 

     MR. MATTHEWS:  I had the CIS coming down from 20.9 down to 18.1, so that’s down a -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, 119.5.  Better yet.  

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  If you have any further amendments of that sort, I would be happy to receive them.  

     MR. PLAYER:  Not at the moment.  

 
MR. SHEPHERD:  That figure 119.5, that's a cost base figure, right?  You're being billed by CWLP based on cost, their cost of providing the service?


MR. PLAYER:  How do you define cost?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, it's not up to me to define it.  Cost is what it is.


MR. PLAYER:  That contract is based on a number of unit price factors that build it up.  There's so much cost per meter reading, so much cost for call, so much cost for collections, so much cost for CIS activity.  So to say it is cost-based budget, I'm not sure that is quite right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  I guess I'm confused, then.  CWLP is an affiliate; right?


MR. PLAYER:  I think it's fair to think of it is an affiliate.  I think legally it is probably not an affiliate, but we talk about it in here close to that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you certainly apply with the Affiliate Relationships Code in your contract with CWLP, don't you?


MR. PLAYER:  The arrangement that we have with CWLP is done at a fair market value, and we - what would I say - benchmark against that and see that it is the same as fair market value.  I think it's fair.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I don't understand this, then.  My question is:  In your arrangement with CWLP, have you complied with the Affiliate Relationships Code; yes or no?


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd, I don't think that is an appropriate line of questioning.  We're not talking about compliance with codes.  If you can ask the questions about the principles underlying or the same principles that we would look at here, then we can perhaps get to the same matter.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I actually ‑‑ it was actually a set-up question, Madam Chair.  I actually thought that they were trying to comply with the code, and so I'm a bit at a loss.  Let me figure out a different way to ask it.


You say that this contract is based on fair market value for the services?


MR. PLAYER:  I beg your pardon?  I couldn't quite hear you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This contract is based on fair market value for the services?


MR. PLAYER:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it tendered?


MR. PLAYER:  When that contract was originally done - and it expires in December of '06, I believe - it was ‑‑ we had some comparisons done before we put the contract in place, but there will be an open tender done when that contract ultimately expires.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But the amount you're paying in 2006 is not tendered.  It's not based on a tendered price, is it?


MR. PLAYER:  No, it was not.  I'm trying to recall the facts.  I remember we talked to other companies at the time when we put that contract in place.  I wasn't totally involved in it, so I'm trying to track back.


I don't think it was tendered as we would think of an open tender today.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And CWLP's cost to supply the service to you is significantly less than what you're paying for the service, isn't it?


MR. LADANYI:  We actually don't know that.  We don't know what their costs are.  We're not performing cost of service study of CWLP.


MR. SHEPHERD:  They pay the fees to Accenture; right?


MR. LADANYI:  They probably pay certain fees to Accenture, but we don't know those details.  You really should be pursuing these questions with Mr. McGill.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Schultz, are you aware of the cost CWLP incurs to provide those services to EGD?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I am not aware, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I was under the impression that the business case analysis that you've done, your benchmarking, et cetera, was to ensure that this is the lowest-cost way for you to do it; right?  Is that the purpose of your benchmarking and business case analysis of this deal?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Mr. Shepherd, if I could just explain a couple of things, first off, the Affiliate Relationships Code was not in place when we signed that contract, the existing Affiliate Relationships Code, which required open tender bidding.  We do fully intend to comply with that when this contract expires.


We had, in fact, at the time a billing and collection system, as well as a call centre, very specific to Enbridge.  We know it met our requirements.  We removed the customer care out of the regulated utility, as I described yesterday, due to unbundling of services, in order to provide the service to both the regulated utility and the energy services.  


It would not have made a lot of sense to have had two call centres, one for each.  The only way we could provide that would be outside the regulated utility.  


So when we signed a contract with CWLP to provide that to Enbridge Gas Distribution, we knew that system would meet our needs.  There wasn't an opportunity to go out and have somebody in a quick fashion provide that needs to us.  We did do benchmarking.  We knew what it cost this utility, and we ensured that we were not paying more than that for the ratepayers.  


And we believe that when we go to open tender at the end of that contract, it will be very clear that it is the most effective service for the ratepayers at a reasonable price, and they will be getting value for that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why wouldn't you just flow through the costs from ‑‑ that CWLP has to EGD, let the ratepayers enjoy the savings?  Why wouldn't you do that?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Why wouldn't I disclose -- could you repeat that, please?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why wouldn't you just flow through the costs that CWLP incurs to EGD so that the ratepayers can enjoy the savings?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Well, first off, the ratepayers, I believe, are getting savings from the productivity that Mr. Player talked about.  We had contracted for those services at the fees it cost.  If CWLP has since that period of time, through economies of scales and other such, been able to reduce those costs, I don't know what they are and I believe that that should be to the benefit of CWLP, who own that asset.


From an Enbridge Gas Distribution perspective, we are being provided services at fair value and we will ensure that when that contract expires, we will go to open tender to get the best possible value for our ratepayers.


MR. PLAYER:  Just to add on to what Mr. Schultz had to say, I had the opportunity last night to review some evidence that Mr. McGill had put into this hearing.  And I really don't want to get into this, because I'm not an expert in it.  I think Mr. McGill would be better to deal with it, but I will refer you to Exhibit A6, tab 2, schedule 3, page 4, which is the benchmarking that has been done by PA Consulting.


And it indicates that, I guess, the last industry benchmark on that was 2003, and there was a sample size of 34 comparative utilities.  I think we're about 15 percent below that benchmark cost, according to that table, so that will need to be updated through '04 when they get some more.  But, you know, as you look at that contract, through the period of those benchmarks, 2000 through 2003 or over that period, we seem to be well below the average industry cost.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, Mr. Player, is it your view that -- as an EGD executive, is it your view that as long as the cost to EGD is below the industry average, it doesn't really matter how much your affiliate CWLP makes on this contract?  That's completely irrelevant?


MR. PLAYER:  No, I would not agree with that.  That's only a part of the element, Mr. Shepherd.  The other part of it is the return, I guess, that CWLP would make on this.


And I think you have to look at a CIS system and say, Is that equivalent to the risk that resides in the utility?  

And with the CIS system I'm not sure that is an equivalent risk and I would suggest it is not it's a hire risk.  So I would expect any return that is earned off that activity, customer care and CIS systems would be at a higher return than the regulated return.  But, as I said, I'm afraid I'm not an expert in this, and I would defer that to Mr. McGill at and a later panel, if you don't mind 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you would agree, just as a matter of principle, that looking at - assuming you have the numbers available to you - looking at the level of profitability and the level of return of your affiliate in this contract, is a relevant issue.  It's a consideration as to whether you're paying the right amount; right? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Mr. Shepherd, first off, we have signed a contract with CWLP for provision of the services for a 5-year period.  At the beginning of that contract, it would be relevant, in terms of whether we were getting value for the services.  And I believe, very much, we were.  And I think that is demonstrated, in terms of what the costs were being incurred by the utility, having that inside.  And as I explained, having moved it out, we were paying for a service, and the ratepayer -- at that time, there were no harm to ratepayer.  It was, in fact, what we were paying.  

     Since that period of time, if there is a return that is higher to CWLP, I believe it’s based upon how they were able to manage this business.  

     I believe the benefits of that will be shown in open-tender process, when that contract is expired.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, Mr. Schultz, it's true, isn't it, that the Board actually already decided that you were paying too much in 2003; right? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  The Board made a decision in 2003, based upon the facts in 2003.  They're entirely different in 2006, in my view.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So what you're saying is that, if the circumstances have changed, between then and 2006, in a way that you couldn't have foreseen, then that's not your fault, that's to the benefit of CWLP; right? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  If the circumstances change, the costs are different, they're finding opportunities to do -- to provide us services in a lower cost, that should be up to them, yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, if the costs are different, in 2006, because of a change that was -- in their costs that were built into the contract in 2003, that's a different story, isn't it? 

     MR. PLAYER:  I didn't really want to go down this route, because I don't have my -- I'm not an expert in it.  

     However, I will be nasty and go down this route, and Mr. McGill will be upset with me, I'm sure.  Also filed in that -- let's take a look at page 12 of 13, please.  

     Now, that indicates -- Enbridge Commercial Services is not a single entity that just has the ownership of the CIS asset in it.   It does have the CIS asset in it, which it licenses to Customer Works Limited Partnership, for a fee.  So there are revenues that come back into Enbridge Commercial Services related to that CIS asset --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Player, I'm sorry.  I’m just going to stop you, because I had a very specific question, and I'm happy for you to go into an explanation, but my question was a much simpler one.  

     If the original contract, in 2003, builds in additional savings for 2006, for CWLP, that's not the same as the situation changing, is it? 

     MR. PLAYER:  May I ask for clarification.  What do you mean, “builds in”?  What does that mean? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  If the contract has specific reduction in their costs, in 2006 - which it does - if it has that, then you should have built that into your contract with them; right? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Who is to say that there is a cost-reduction in that contract? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mm-hmm.  

     MR. CASS:  Well, I think it’s becoming very clear, Madam Chair, that Mr. Shepherd's questions are getting beyond the scope of this panel, and are really getting into areas we need Mr. McGill for.  Mr. McGill will be testifying later.  

     MS. NOWINA:  I think your panel can respond to that.  If they’d rather defer the question for Mr. McGill --  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm happy to move on, Madam Chair, if that's the case.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me turn you to Exhibit K6.7, the scorecard, and my friend, Mr. Thompson, has dealt with this -- with most of what I had to talk about this morning, already.  I just want to ask -- just a couple of remaining questions.   

     Mr. Thompson talked about the fact that you moved from 50 percent shareholder stuff, if you like, to 60 percent shareholder stuff.   But it's true, isn't it, that one of the things you did is, you moved your volume-related scorecard items from customer to financial.  True? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  That is correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so, actually, your 50 percent to 60 percent, in both cases, is 60 percent financial; right?  Really.  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Well, let me just make sure I understand.  We have the stub-period in here, as well as 2005.  And in the stub-period, net income, which is specifically financial -- although department O&M per-billed-customer and capital per-billed-customer are also included in there.  We can classify those under financial, and we tend to classify it under two or three categories, just for succinctness.  

     But what I was indicating to Mr. Thompson, which I will indicate to you, as well, if you wish to characterize it financial, I would not characterize that all to the benefit of the shareholder.  And financial, a department O&M per-billed-customer is very much in the interest of a ratepayer to have that the lowest.  And we would have a target, and we would do what we can to meet that.  

     So -- just so we understand that we talk percentages, and whether we classify them as financial or not, as to whose benefit it is, I would make sure that we would make sure that would be clear.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  Let me just follow up on that.  I’ll get back to the volume things in a second, but let me just follow up on that.   I'm not sure I understand how O&M or capital expenditures are for the benefit of the customer, if your budget’s already set, and every dollar you save goes to your bottom line.  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Well, first off, if would we were able to, through productivity and efficiency, save on O&M costs, through ability to influence and have a bonus structure in place for all of the employees, the 1,600 employees -- that they were able to reduce the O&M costs-per-customer, those productivities would be available for future years, so that's a direct benefit to the ratepayer.  And I truly believe, in a process whereby my employees are rewarded for their ability to meet targets and to drive benefits, to a balance of the ratepayers and the shareholders.  And that's what this, in fact, does, in my view.   

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So in the year in question -- so in 2004, in the case of the stub-period, 2005, in the case of the one you are working to now, those O&M and capital benefits are shareholder benefits.   But they also accrue, in future years, assuming you can sustain them --   

     MR. SCHULTZ:  That is correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  -- they accrue, in future years, to the benefit of the ratepayers; is that right? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  That is correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, let me get back to volumes.  You've got -- in 2004, you've got two volume items, 5 percent each under "customer".  And then, in 2005, you have customer additions, which, I think, is sort of like a volume thing that's been added; is that right? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  It's in the same general area, yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So they sort of equate; they measure similar things; right?  Not quite, but -- 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Not quite, because, obviously, billed through-put, un-normalized, could be dependent upon particular categories of customers and their usage, as opposed to a new residential customer. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So let me just ask you about the O&M per-customer number.  

     You explained that -- I think, Mr. Player, you explained that you get the numbers for O&M and the number of customers, and you just divide one by the other, right? 

     So this 187.4, in 2005, can you tell me what the two numbers were, that made that up? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Not off the top of my head, no.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you undertake to provide that? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, we can do that.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be Undertaking J7.5, as described.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.5:  TO DETERMINE AND PROVIDE AN EXPLANATION AS TO WHAT THE TWO NUMBERS WERE WHICH MADE UP THE O&M PER-CUSTOMER FIGURE OF 187.4 IN 2005

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, let me just turn to customer, for a second.  And you had a measure, in 2004, called “customer-satisfaction composite index”, which had a 20 percent rating.  This is like a survey; is this right?  Or is this a combination of factors? 


MR. SCHULTZ:  It's a combination of various components most of which come through a variety of surveys, either customers that have not had any contact with the utility; in some cases those who have requested services and we followed up; in other cases those that we initiated the service.  So it is a composite of all of those.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you've kept the target at the same level, but you've reduced the weight of that from 20 percent to 10 percent.


First of all, is that something that you do at EGD or is that something that EI does?


MR. SCHULTZ:  This is strictly Enbridge Gas Distribution.  And, secondly, we have put in public safety and reliability for 10 percent, which Mr. Beaumont could go in and describe, which is very much in the interests of the customer.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, why don't you just tell us about what that index is?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Well, it is an index, so it's intended to give us some sort of composite measure on ‑‑ it's about 12 different measures that are included in them.  So there is a section that are leading indicators about the completion of our programs.  So these are things like our completion of our corrosion programs and leak survey programs, responding to red tag issues or other customer issues in a timely fashion.  That's one half of it.


The second half are lagging indicators, so these are results that we see in the field.  So that would include leaks.  It would include system outages.  So that's part of the reliability issue.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So these are all hard metrics.  They're not surveys or estimates?


MR. BEAUMONT:  The public safety and reliability index is all hard metrics.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that was designed internally?


MR. BEAUMONT:  That was designed internally.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Has that ever been made public, or is there any reason it can't be made public?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I'm trying to think if it has been made public before.  There is not a reason it can't ‑‑ no -- yes, it has been made public.  I have used it in a presentation before the Canadian Gas Association.  So, yes, it's already public and there is no reason it couldn't be, because we're actually quite proud of it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course.  I wonder if we could get you to file it?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Absolutely.


MR. BATTISTA:  That will be characterized as undertaking J7.6.  That's the customer satisfaction ‑‑ sorry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, sorry.  It's the public safety and reliability index, Mr. Battista.


MR. BATTISTA:  Thanks.

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.6:  PUBLIC SAFETY AND RELIABILITY INDEX


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the last thing I want to ask you about on this scorecard is you have a measure, company work environment composite, which had a 5 percent rating or weighting in 2004, and then it moves to 15 percent in 2005.  Is that because you've changed how you measure that?


MR. SCHULTZ:  No.  Mr. Shepherd, what it would be is, if you look at the scorecard for 2004, you will see company absenteeism, critical employee retention, employee survey work environment.  So what we have done is we have combined those, and we have also added to that succession readiness, in terms of how ready our managers are to move to the next level for succession planning purposes.  


We've combined a number of factors into one composite.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's just to make it a more sophisticated measure of your employees' situation, if you like, how good the place is for your employees?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The one thing, though, I guess that would concern ratepayers is it's true, isn't it, that nothing in the scorecard relates to lowering rates, does it?


MR. SCHULTZ:  From my perspective, from a ratepayer, we would be providing fair and reasonable rates to our ratepayers.  And everything we do, in fact, is for providing fair and reasonable rates.  I believe it is the value our customers get as opposed to the lowest cost rates possible.


I do not believe our ratepayers would find it acceptable for us to spend the minimum amount, but increase their risk and the exposure to it.  So we do everything we can that will provide our customers and our ratepayers with fair and reasonable rates.


MR. SHEPHERD:  A number of people in management, including you, Mr. Schultz, have their bonuses, in part, controlled by the scorecard; right?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That is correct, a portion of it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so your bonuses, and yours, personally, and those of most of your senior management team ‑ correct me if I'm wrong - they have a number of measures relating to profitability for the shareholder, but they have none relating to driving down rates, do they?


MR. SCHULTZ:  As I suggested, Mr. Shepherd, we have a number of our objectives tied to providing fair and reasonable rates to our ratepayers.


We have not specifically, nor do we believe that to be in the best interests of our ratepayers, simply to drive down rates by exposing other aspects.  We, in fact, have a composite of a variety of things we look at doing to making this the most productive and effective utility.


MR. CASS:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  I don't want to be lengthy and prolong this any more than is absolutely necessary.  I just want to point out that this ‑‑ we had extensive to and fro on this very question with Mr. Thompson yesterday, I believe, as to whether there was anything in the scorecard that related to driving down rates.  And I just wonder how effective a use of our time it is to re-plow that ground today.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I've finished that point, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I would like to turn to a document that I provided to the Board and to the parties called "Comparison of Per Unit Distribution Revenue Versus Ontario CPI", and I wonder if I can get an exhibit number for this.


MR. BATTISTA:  Yes, that will be given Exhibit 7. ‑‑ K7.1.  It's called "Comparison of Per Unit Distribution Revenue Versus Ontario CPI".

EXHIBIT NO. K7.1:  "COMPARISON OF PER UNIT DISTRIBUTION REVENUE VERSUS ONTARIO CPI"

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I guess this would be you, Mr. Player.  You're the one who talked about rates compared to CPI, so I'm going to take you to the third page of this document and I'm going to ask you ‑‑ you see that table 1 there?


MR. PLAYER:  Yes, indeed.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, it's correct, isn't it, that the numbers on the first page ‑‑ in fact, everything on the first page up to the line 2003 is identical to that table, isn't it?


MR. LADANYI:  No.  Actually, it is not.  If you look further up, 1992 on your table, you've got a zero percent rate increase, and you will notice that that is blank in the ‑‑ in our evidence.  And, by the way, this evidence is from the 2004 rate case.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.


MR. LADANYI:  So there we're showing a blank there, because if you put a zero there, that would be imply that that was a zero rate increase in 1992.  In fact, there was a rate increase in 1992.  The purpose of the table was to show the rate increase since 1992, and that's why there is nothing shown in that blank space for 1992.


MR. SHEPHERD:  My apologies, Mr. Ladanyi.  I didn't suppress zeros on my spreadsheet, but you're absolutely right.


The point is to compare one year to a previous year, so 1992 has no number, because there is no previous year listed; right?


MR. LADANYI:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's the base year.  Okay.


And, in fact, this was originally filed, wasn't it, to show that ‑‑ you were using a shortcut in 2004 rate case.  You asked the Board, in order for you to get back on track, to allow you to have a rate increase of 90 percent of inflation, and you used this chart to show that that amount was reasonable, because in prior years your average rate increases had been well above inflation; isn't that right?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  The purpose of the table was to show that average increases were for the previous ten years - and we showed really essentially ten years of data from '92 to 2002 - were above inflation.  So we wanted to demonstrate to the Board that there should be no concerns about giving an increase that would be below inflation, which in this case was 90 percent of the rate of inflation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And in order to do that, what you did was you took Board-approved distribution revenues, you divided them by Board-approved volumes, to get revenue use per volume; right?


MR. LADANYI:  I'm not really the witness for this document, but looking at it, that's what seems to have been done.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the point of doing that is so that you can isolate the rate increases; right?


MR. LADANYI:  I believe that was the intention.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?


MR. LADANYI:  I believe that was the intention of this document.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then also attached, if you look at the subsequent pages, you will see ‑‑ I'm sorry, the pages aren't numbered.  The sixth page of this is an item that says -- that is labelled Exhibit A, tab 7, schedule 2, page 1 from the 0048 case.  Do you see that?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I do.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that has your projected distribution revenues for the 2004 year; right? 

     MR. LADANYI:  That's right.  In column 8. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that actually ended up being the Board-approved, didn't it? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it did. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the Board-approved volumes for 2004 were the same as 2003, in effect, because you didn't change volumes; right? 

     MR. LADANYI:  That's right.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you look at the last page of this, you’ll then see 2005 -- this is the 2005 rate case, the final Board order, Exhibit H3, tab 1, schedule 2.  Do you see that? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I do.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that has both the Board-approved volumes and the Board-approved revenues for 2005, doesn't it? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it does.     

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So -- you’ll see, then -- if you go back to the first page, you’ll see that the last two lines of that chart -- just insert those numbers into your original table; right? 

     MR. LADANYI:  I see that you've done this, but I want to qualify this, to the extent that I’m really not an expert on rate design.  And so these tables were produced by other witnesses, in prior rate cases.  And I will accept your table, subject to check, but really our staff at the office would have to look at this to see whether it’s reasonable.   

     I’m, for example, not sure whether -- how you've treated storage and DPAC revenues, and so on.  I’d really like to discuss it with our staff, but I’ll accept it, for the purpose of this cross-examination.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, the reason this is being filed is because you, Mr. Player, said, we have to stop just giving you inflation plus customer growth.  We've got to give you some extra money for your extra cost pressures.  And so what we did was, we calculated -- if you just got inflation for that period of time, what would your revenues be in 2005?  And it looks to us - and correct me, if I'm wrong - like you've got $44 million more in revenue, already, than inflation, even with the volumes adjusted.  Do you understand that? 

     MR. LADANYI:  That's one way of looking at it.  But I think -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Ladanyi, sorry.  Let me just ask Mr. Player to respond to the question, and then you are welcome to add to it, I think.  

     MR. PLAYER:  I see how the calculation was done.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Your revenues in 2005, already, are substantially in excess of inflation over that period, aren't they? 

     MR. PLAYER:  According to these calculations they would be.  I don't know. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry. 

     MR. PLAYER:  I say according to these calculations they would be. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Sorry, Mr. Ladanyi, I cut you off.  Go ahead. 

     MR. LADANYI:  I wanted to say that, again, we've got a mixture of factors in here.  You're dealing with 50,000 additional customers, so, obviously, you'll have additional revenues from those 50,000 customers.  And that will push you above inflation.  

     So, if you were dealing with a fixed number of customers from year to year, possibly some kind of an inflation comparison would be meaningful.  I think, when we were discussing inflation plus customer growth, we were discussing O&M costs.  So we're discussing that the O&M costs are going to be increasing by the rate of inflation, plus the impact of customer growth, plus additional cost pressures.  So we would be discussing a component of the rate.  

     What you've got, here, are revenues mixed in, and a bunch of other things.  So you can't really look at it this way.  

     MRE. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  But in 2004, the company told the Board this rate increase, just below inflation, is reasonable, precisely because it's less than what we got in the past.  So it is a relevant number, isn't it? 

     MR. LADANYI:  I will say, I admit that it’s a relevant number, but as you’ll recall our evidence in that year - okay? - said this was a short-term situation.  We wanted to get back on track.  We really wanted to have rates in place by the start of the fiscal year, and, on a short-term basis, that was a reasonable way to approach that situation.  We knew there might have been some risks, but it was not to be used as a rule-of-thumb, forever.  

     In fact, I think many of the intervenors argued that it shouldn't be used on a continuous basis.  I recall Mr. Warren saying that, and a number of others.  I don't quite -- specifically, recall you saying that, but it was a short-term solution to a particular problem that we faced in 2004.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, in this application - and that is the 2006 application - you've agreed on Board-approved volumes for the 2006 year of $12,320,906 M3; right? 

     MR. LADANYI:  I believe that’s in the settlement agreement.    

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And your proposed revenues for the test year are $992,628; is that correct?   Or, sorry, 922 -- 992,628,000.  

     MR. LADANYI:  Could you take me to the exhibit? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I found that in H2, tab 1, schedule 2.  

     MR. LADANYI:  That might be the pre-filed evidence.  I'm not sure whether that's been updated for the settlement agreement.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have an updated number? 

     MR. LADANYI:  I don't, but I think maybe you should pursue the exact number with somebody else.  I'm not really sure.  Maybe Mr. Cass can help me.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could undertake to provide the proposed revenues in your application, as it is currently before the Board -- the updated number from H2, tab 1, schedule 2.  

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, we will do that. 

     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be undertaking J7.7.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.7:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATED FIGURE AS TO PROPOSED REVENUES FOR THE TEST YEAR

     MR. LADANYI:  This might already be evidence in, Mr. Shepherd.  It’s just -- if you’ll give us a moment, we’ll see if we can find the number.  

     MR. CASS:  Can I just have a moment, Madam Chair, to consult with Mr. Hoey about what is being requested?  Thank you.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Mr. Cass.  

     MR. CASS:  I wonder if I might just clarify, Madam Chair.  And I may have missed this because there were a number of people speaking.  

     I want to understand that Mr. Shepherd's request is to update the distribution revenues number, to reflect the settlement on volume.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Actually, my request is -- because I don't think the volumes actually affects the revenue number.  I don't think so --

     MR. LADANYI:  It certainly does.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But here is my request.  My request is that the company tell the Board how much it’s asking the Board to let it collect from ratepayers in 2006.  How much is it asking, right now, for the Board to approve? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Well, if you look at the Exhibit N 1, tab 2, schedule 4, page 1, there is a revenue forecast under column 3, which is the ADR utility income column.  And it’s showing total revenue of 3,112,800,000.  So that is the revenue forecast, based on the settlement agreement.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so what's the equivalent distribution-revenue number? 

     MR. LADANYI:  It's not in evidence in these exhibits, and not before me.  I have no idea what it is.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The company must know what it is.  

     MR. LADANYI:  I certainly don't.  I'm not sure if anybody else does, at this point.  

     Usually that number is calculated later on, when -- at the time of the rate order.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, right now, the evidence shows the company asking for a little under $993 million of distribution revenue in the test year.  Mr. Ladanyi, I think, has told us that that number has changed.  I think the Board should know what the new number is.  And that's what I’ve asked for.  

     MS. NOWINA:  And that number was filed in H2, tab 1, schedule 2, and you're asking for an update of that, based on the settlement agreement?  Or 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well --

     MS. NOWINA:  -- or based on matters that have -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  -- whatever the current status is, which, presumably, is after the settlement agreement.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Can the company undertake that? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, we can provide that.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And in order to determine your distribution-revenue-per-unit, as per this chart in exhibit K7.1, we would take - correct me if I'm wrong - the 12,320,910 6M3 that’s agreed  -- is now the Board-approved for 2006, and divide that into the distribution revenues you're asking for -- what you're asking the Board to approve; isn't that right? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes.   

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And we would get a number that’s, in effect, equivalent to that $73.87 you see for 2005, but it will be higher.  

     MR. LADANYI:  I presume it will be higher.  I really don't know -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay. 

     MR. LADANYI:  -- what it would look like.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I'm moving to another area, which is going to take quite a while.  So it may be that this is an appropriate time, if it's convenient for you, to break, and I can tell you that I probably have 45 minutes left.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  All right, let's break for lunch, then, and we will return here at ten minutes past 1:00.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Would it be convenient to just use a minute or two of time to catch up on where we are and where we might be this afternoon?


Again, I almost hesitate to raise the scheduling issues again after the EnVision experience, but I don't believe this ‑- I would be very surprised if this panel scheduled any expectations of being here beyond today.  I'm hopeful they will finish today.  We also, I think, have a standby panel, which I think is quite unlikely would be reached.  But it might help everybody if we just had a moment to canvas where we expect to end up this afternoon.


MS. NOWINA:  Why don't I go back to my notes of what people told me yesterday, because that might keep them honest in this regard?  So Mr. Shepherd told me an hour and a half, and he's going to take another 45 minutes.  He's going to be fairly close.  Mr. Dingwall, you said an hour this afternoon.


MR. DINGWALL:  Yes.  And I think that is conservative and I can live with it.


MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  And Ms. DeMarco, who I don't see, she said she would take half an hour, and Mr. Adams a few minutes.


MR. MACINTOSH:  It was 15 minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  Fifteen minutes.  That looks like we will complete this panel this afternoon.  I won't be so optimistic as to think that we could begin another panel this afternoon, though, Mr. Cass.


MS. KRIARIS:  Madam Chair, if I could just interrupt, we may have a few questions.  Possibly we won't have any, but I don't anticipate going past ten minutes, if we do.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. DINGWALL:  That's a bit of a new development.  As I understand it, Direct Energy might be more ‑‑ their interest might be more aligned with the company's.  As such, I think in the context of the scheduling, if they're going to have any questions, they should go first.


MS. NOWINA:  Well, we're already in midstream, Mr. Dingwall, so ‑‑


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, in advance of my cross‑examination, certainly.


MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  We can do that.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Now we will adjourn until 1:15.


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:00 p.m. 


--- On resuming at 1:15 p.m.     

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  

     Are there any preliminary matters, Mr. Cass? 

     MR. CASS:  None that I am aware of, Madam Chair.  Thank you.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Millar?  

     MR. MILLAR:  No, Madam Chair.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Anyone else?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

     MR. HOAKEN:  Yes.  I’d like to raise an issue, Madam Chair.  For the record, I'm Eric Hoaken.  I appear with my colleague, Ms. Kriaris, for Direct Energy.  

     And I would like to deal with, and revisit, an issue that I understand was raised just before the lunch break.  And I would like to, formally, for the record, take issue with the statement made by Mr. Dingwall, to the effect that Direct Energy is aligned with the company, and that we must, therefore, go last in the order of cross-examination.  

     There is simply, and I say with respect, no foundation for that statement.  And there was no opportunity given for Direct to rebut that statement, or respond to it, prior to the lunch break.  And it's for that reason I raise it now.    

     We simply do not know, at this point, where my friend, Mr. Dingwall, is going.  He has filed no evidence or book of authorities, and we were not party to his discussions at the ADR.  

     And we, at this point, have, on this issue, no questions.  But we would like to expressly, for the record, reserve our ability to pursue questions, once we do know where he is going, that arise from the issues that he canvasses in his cross-examination.  

     And I would ask simply -- I'm not asking for a ruling, at this point, Madam Chair, but I simply ask that our -- that our ability -- our right to revisit this issue with the Board, following the cross-examination of the panel, be preserved.

     And I would say, simply - sorry, just one final point - that we say, simply, that Direct Energy is not aligned with the company, certainly not in the manner that was alleged.  And that the only basis that there could possibly be for any suggestion, is that Direct has a contract with Enbridge Inc.  But that does not, in our respectful submission, constitute any alignment with Enbridge Gas Distribution.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Hoaken.  

[The Board confers]      

     MR. DINGWALL:  May I reply? 

     MS. NOWINA:  In a moment, Mr. Dingwall.       

     MR. DINGWALL:  Certainly. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. Dingwall.       

     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you.  To be very clear, I provided a time estimate to Mr. Hoey in respect of this panel, and indicated that I wished to cross-examine this panel on behalf of my client, Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters.  Earlier in the proceeding, I also indicated that I am representing another party, which is the HVAC Coalition Inc.  

     Earlier, I indicated that, for scheduling purposes, the HVAC coalition Inc. would be limiting its involvement to the panels relating, specifically, to customer care and third-party access to the bill.  That hasn't changed.  So, in context of this panel, my cross-examination was intended on pursuing the questions and goals of my client, the Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters.  

     In suggesting an order for cross-examination, I want to be very clear that, if Direct Energy has questions of this panel, it's possible that the HVAC Coalition may have questions for this panel.  But at this point in time, the HVAC Coalition does not.  

     I don't know if that resolves this issue for today, or whether we need to determine this issue once and for all, when we finally get to the bun fight 

     MS. NOWINA:  I think it may resolve the issue, Mr. Dingwall. 

     Ms. DeMarco, did you have a comment?  I say skeptically, not because I don't want to hear from you, but I thought we were almost at a resolution.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Well, I guess it's more a way of a clarification through you, requested of Direct.  I'm still not certain whether or not Direct will or will not cross-examine this panel, or whether the right they are seeking is more in the form of a redirect, based on what Mr. Dingwall or other parties may say.  So I wonder if I could seek that clarification through you, Madam Chair?  

     MR. HOAKEN:  I certainly would be happy to answer that question.  At this time, I’ll be perfectly clear, we do not have any questions of this panel.  

     I wouldn't want to be taken as agreeing with my friend's suggestion that what we're seeking is a right of redirect.  There is, perhaps, some lack of clarity or specificity about the issues that will be addressed with the panel in the cross-examinations that are to come, and all we are seeking is the ability, as is frequently done in litigation, to wait to hear what is said, to determine if there are any further issues we want to pursue. 

     So I don't accept that’s a right of redirect.  It’s simply -- we are deferring our cross-examination to hear what other parties pursue.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Hoaken, it does sound a bit like a right to redirect.  In any case, Mr. Dingwall's request was that you go first, not last.  And so we suggested that, that you would follow Mr. Shepherd.  

     I assume, from what you’ve said, that, if you follow Mr. Shepherd, you have no questions.  I assume, from Mr. Dingwall -- what Mr. Dingwall said, that if you have no questions, he will have no questions on behalf of HVAC,  which might resolve your issue about having further questions. 

     So I think that that’s what we will do.  We’ll ago ahead with Mr. Shepherd.  We will assume that you have no questions, and we will follow Mr. Shepherd with Mr. Dingwall.  If something changes, that you want to bring forward during the afternoon, you are certainly free to do that.  

     MR. HOAKEN:  That is certainly satisfactory, Madam Chair.  Our concern was simply that the record be clarified as to the statements made by my friend in support of his position on the order of cross-examination.  I think we have done that, and we're content to move on.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     MR. HOAKEN:  Thank you.       

     MS. NOWINA:  Ms. DeMarco, anything further? 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, in fairness to my friend, I should indicate that I do intend to ask some very high-level questions regarding the relationship with Direct Energy.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     Mr. Shepherd?
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CONTINUED CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I heard my name.  

     Just one follow-up question, Mr. Beaumont.  You said this morning that the public safety and reliability index is a new index; is that right? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  What's the date of document -- Exhibit K6.7?  I couldn't find a date on it, Mr. Schultz, but --.  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Mr. Shepherd, I don't see the date on it, as well, but it would have been early 2005.  My recollection would have been in the January-February

time-frame.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought it was around March.  Does that sound about right? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  That's a possibility.  I certainly could verify that, but right at the moment I think it would be in that neighbourhood.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay. 

     So, Mr. Beaumont, back to you.  The public safety and reliability index, that was developed, specifically, for 2005; right? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes.  That was the first year we put it in place -- was beginning, in theory, January, 2005. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You've been working on it for some time? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes, I think that’s fair to say.  We’ve been working on it for sometime. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  When did you actually start working on this index? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  To be honest, I don't know whether I could pinpoint a specific date, but sometime, probably, during 2004. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  In December, perhaps? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  No.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Earlier?

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Before that.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But it's true, isn't it, that one of the measures in the public safety and reliability index is cast-iron mains? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Leaks from cast-iron -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Leaks? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that was added in January; isn’t that right? 

MR. BEAUMONT:  [Inaudible]

     MR. SCHULTZ:  If I could just add to that.  We have -- as I explained earlier, all of our employees have individual scorecards.  They roll up this particular scorecard which we have on file here.  Individual scorecards would have each of those components of the public safety index on it.  This is the first time that we brought it to the level of the company scorecard, but we have had scorecarding in place for the last four years.


If you go back to each of those years, somebody in our organization would have had the components of each of those public and safety index in them.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I was actually trying to ask Mr. Beaumont a question.


The cast-iron main leaks measure was added in January; is that correct?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I couldn't confirm that.  I'm not sure that that is true, or not true.  I would have to go back and check at what point we added what components to that public safety and reliability index.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And would that have been ‑‑ the components of this index are approved by EI; right?


MR. BEAUMONT:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well ‑‑ okay.  So will you undertake to tell us when you added cast-iron mains to this index?


MR. BEAUMONT:  We will do that.


MR. BATTISTA:  That's undertaking J7.8.

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.8:  WHEN CAST IRON MAINS ADDED TO PUBLIC SAFETY AND RELIABILITY INDEX

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now I would like to move now to capital budgets, and then -- Mr. Thompson and Mr. Warren have covered this all quite admirably, so I only have a few more questions.


Let me start by asking you to turn to Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 16.  I'm looking at page 23 ‑‑ going to go to page 23. 


MS. NOWINA:  Exhibit I, tab 5?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Schedule 16.


MS. NOWINA:  Sixteen.  Page?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Twenty-three.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can somebody on the -- can somebody on the witness panel identify this document, please?


MR. LADANYI:  This is the regional operations budget; regional operations, only.  It is not for the entire company.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a presentation made December 14th, 2004; is that right?


MR. LADANYI:  That's what the date on it appears to be.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Who was this presentation to?


MR. LADANYI:  I believe it was a presentation to people from finance department by regional operations.  It was a meeting between finance and regional operations, and I believe that was the document that was handed out, but I am not entirely sure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, Mr. Player, would you have been at that presentation?


MR. PLAYER:  I was not at that presentation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you familiar with who it was made to?  Was it made to people in your department?


MR. PLAYER:  I don't know.  I'm not familiar with it, sorry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're not familiar with it.  


The way the process works - correct me if I'm wrong - is that the individual departments get to their final budget, and they make a presentation to finance proposing the budget that they want to be included in the full budget; right?


MR. LADANYI:  That's right.  People in the finance department who work on the budget, including myself, would meet with individual departments and they would explain the numbers to us.  We would discuss the numbers with them.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you were at this presentation; right?


MR. LADANYI:  I believe I was at that presentation.  I'm just not completely sure of whether this document was given at that date, but I was definitely at the regional operations budget review meeting.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, this is only three days before the presentation to the EMT of the whole budget, so I presume that this wasn't the first time you saw this.  This was like the final, We're there now, for regional operations; right?


MR. LADANYI:  I believe there were two meetings with regional operations.  I don't recall the exact dates.  I think this was at the second meeting.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then this is sort of the last one before you then take the whole budget to EMT?


MR. LADANYI:  Correct.  These would normally ‑‑ numbers that regional operations would have provided would have been then added to the other numbers that finance department would have had from other departments, and then they would have assembled the presentation that you have seen elsewhere.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, I would like you to turn to page 32 of that exhibit, if you could, please.


If you look at the bottom slide there, and the top slide on the next page, correct me if I'm wrong, this is not the regional operations capital budget.  This is what regional operations thought was the whole company's capital budget; isn't that right?


MR. LADANYI:  I don't think so.  I think this would have been prepared by regional operations.  I don't think it would be ‑‑ I see there is IT in it.  I think, um ...


MR. SHEPHERD:  It has engineering.  It has opportunity development.


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  I see now that it has on the next page -- I see here that some things have been added to it.  I can't completely tell you exactly what these last two slides were, whether ‑‑ what they include.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it looks to me, I guess, like ‑‑ and that's why I'm seeking your assistance here.  It looks to me like this is what regional operations thought the whole capital budget was as of December 14th for the entire company.  Isn't that what it looks like?


MR. LADANYI:  It seems to be that way, yes.  The numbers seem to be in that range.  I'd have to review the numbers.  I can't tell right off here.  It looks like that is what it is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So there's two things that confuse me.  First of all, if you look at the first page, the page 32 at the bottom, this breakdown is a familiar breakdown.  This is how capital is normally broken down, right, all of the normal lines we've seen before; right?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But then you look to the second page and starting at D, these are all normal things we're used to, but all of this stuff C, district overheads, I've never seen that before.  Can you tell me what that is?


MR. LADANYI:  Overheads, that would be normally included in the capital budget process, in the capital budget items.  So they would be the cost of working on capital projects in the regions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So are these in addition to your normal capital expenditures?


MR. LADANYI:  Well, individuals in different departments would work on capital projects and they ‑‑ part of their salary would be capitalized and it becomes overheads.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But I don't see anything like miscellaneous mains blankets.  I don't even know what a mains blanket is, frankly.  But I don't see any miscellaneous mains blankets in your normal capital budgets.


MR. LADANYI:  Well, you might have heard, for example, that our work management centre is capitalizing a portion of their costs that would end up in the miscellaneous mains.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But then in your normal capital budget, that's built in somewhere else; right?  It's not that you ignored it in your regular capital budget.  You just put it in a different category?


MR. LADANYI:  Well, there's different ways of presenting the budget.  We can present the budget with overheads in it or with overheads separated out, and I think the slides have the overheads separated out.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  So then all of these other numbers in this budget in customer related and system improvements and upgrades, those are also ‑‑ they're not going to be comparable numbers to what you would see in a normal budget, because they don't have overheads in it yet; right?


MR. LADANYI:  That's what I would say, looking at these numbers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the thing that is striking about this, of course, aside from the fact that it has the overheads out, is that the 2006 calendar number is 298.9 million, and this is in the last presentation before you went to EMT with $316.2 million.


So I guess the obvious question is where the other $18 million comes from?


MR. LADANYI:  The best I can do is undertake to give you an explanation.  I don't know cold right now what the difference between the two is.  I believe it has something to do with the overheads.  It could be with interest during construction.  Right now, I don't know.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You know what?  It would be useful if you could -- if it's not too much trouble, if you could give us this December 14th budget with that 298.9 total in a format comparable to the 316.2, same categories - with the overheads in, in other words - so that we can compare them and see what the difference is.  Could you do that?


MR. LADANYI:  You're asking for a reconciliation between the two?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. PLAYER:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  As you know, our budgeting process is an iterative process as it builds up.  We could go back to the December 1st version of work that was done and we could get the regional operations budgets individually there.  We could go back before that and get the district budgets.  This seems to be a rather circuitous route.

I think our objective here is to bring forward the budget that we're looking for approval for, and to provide the rationale for that. This could become a very long, prolongated process, to get to the end of all of this.    

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd, maybe you could clarify for me exactly what it was you were looking for, and your rationale for requiring it? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The suggestion’s been made - and you've heard it in the other cross-examinations, and you’ll hear it in ours, in a minute - that there was -- appeared to be a deliberate process from December through January to add to the capital budget.  And in fact, cross-examiners have been exploring the motives of that.  

     This appears to demonstrate that it wasn't just from 316 to 458, but it was actually happening prior to that, that additions were being made.  

     And we would like to know who was making them and why?  Because the motivations for those additions will assist the Board in understanding whether those additions are truly necessary or not.  

     MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, we're really talking about - as I understand it - different draft budgets.  The company has explained that, as far as capital is concerned, it's zero-based budgeting.  So the start was zero.  And as Mr. Player has said in evidence -- I suppose one could go on, endlessly, from zero to the end result.  

     In my submission, it's not terribly productive for the Board to compare and reconcile draft budgets as the company works its way -- worked its way through the budgeting process.  As the witnesses have explained, the company's budget that is in issue is what’s before the Board.  

     I suppose we're in the Board's hands as to whether the Board feels that this is productive, compared to the time that's involved in comparing and reconciling draft budgets.  

[The Board confers] 

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Cass, we are sympathetic to your comment about it being an iterative budget, and don't want to get into all of the layers of the onion.  However, there was a significant difference here.  And I wonder if we could frame the undertaking, simply, identifying what created that difference in budget in that time-frame.  

     Mr. Shepherd, would that meet your requirements? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's great, Madam Chair. 

     MR. BATTISTA:  And that will be Undertaking J7.9. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.9: CHANGES TO CAPITAL BUDGET  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, Mr. Beaumont, there is a capital budget at Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 25, which is for $316.2 million.  Now, I'm not actually going to ask you to go there, because I think it is more easily set out on Exhibit K6.5; isn't that right? 

     It's -- column 7 of K6.5 is that capital budget from December 17th, 2004; is that right? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  I believe that's correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's easier for us to look there, I think.  

     Now, that capital budget -- the capital budget is your responsibility, Mr. Beaumont? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  I would say portions of it are, not the entire capital budget, no. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Who is the executive member that presents the capital budget to the EMT?  Who is the sponsor of it? 

     MR. PLAYER:  I suppose, at the end of the day, I would be. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's you, Mr. Player?  Okay.  

     But of course, what -- everything that was in this capital budget, Mr. Beaumont, that -- it was approved by you, before it was proposed to the EMT; right? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  No.  I wouldn't say that was true, either.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, which parts of it had you approved? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Certainly, the system-improvement aspects.  And, you know, I had input on some of the other issues, like office -- you know, some of the general plant items.  

     I had input on some of the customer-related items.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it reasonable to say that the system-improvement section - section B - is, sort of, engineering's responsibility?  Section A – customer-related - is operations’ responsibility; is that right, roughly? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Yeah, I’ll use the word "roughly". 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the other big item in here - computers and communication equipment - that's your IT group's responsibility. 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's in finance; right? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes.  

     MR. PLAYER:  That's correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That’s -- okay.  Good.  

     So I'm just looking at the -- at that draft budget.  And if I'm not mistaken, there are five areas in which you made major increases between December 17th and sometime in January, when you had a $458 million budget.  And I just want to go through those and ask you about each one of them.  

     Let's start with sales mains.  You had a $32.8 million increase in that component.  Does anybody on the panel know why that happened? 

     MR. LADANYI:  We're dealing with, essentially, the aggressive system expansion, I believe. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So that wasn't already in there, in the 77.6 million?  I thought it was. 

     MR. LADANYI:  I think the - what was it? - the 77.6 million, I believe, was -- the electricity RFP projects were in there. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, I see.  So you already had the 36.3 million in - and that's why the 77.6 was already so high - and then you added this other $26 million; is that right? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's because you decided that you wanted to follow the EBO-188 rule, of the 0.8 test for expansion; right?  Which you hadn't been following in the previous years; right? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  We had been following those tests in previous years.  Maybe not to the same extent, but as I talked about yesterday, the shortage of electricity supply in this province has caused myself and my organization to re-look at this.  

     I've had many meetings with the Energy Minister, like Dwight Duncan, in terms of, where can the gas-distribution utilities provide some value, in terms of electricity shortfall?  I’ve indicated that there are a number of areas - things such as fuel switching - that we would be able to take a look at -- more the remote areas, that, with new development, increased numbers of potential customers out there -- it would be more economic than it had been in the past.  

     So I had undertaken to take a look at what we could do to assist this province in its shortage of electricity, by providing environmentally-friendly natural gas to potential customers.  As a result of those types of discussions, that we went back and looked at what we could, in fact, do, to provide natural gas to prospective customers.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So in the last few years, before this year, your, sort of, internal rule, on a per-project basis, had been a 1.0 test, as opposed to the 0.8 test; right?  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  We tended to look at 1.0, but on a - certainly, on a portfolio basis.  But it wasn't that we would never include a project if it wasn’t at 1.0 --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I asked --   

     MR. SCHULTZ:  -- we certainly looked at it, and said, Is it over .8?  How much? What is the nature of this project?  So there were a lot of factors taken into account. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Schultz, sorry.  I didn't ask you about the portfolio.  I asked you about the projects, okay?  

     So the projects, although EBO-188 said that your test per- project should be 0.8 or higher, internally, you didn't proceed with projects unless they met a 1.0 factor -- individual projects, since - what? - four or five years;  isn't that true? 

     MR. PLAYER:  No, that’s not true. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So there have been exceptions to that? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Absolutely. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But that has been your general test, right?  1.0?

     MR. PLAYER:  I think four or five years is quite a bit of an extended time.  I don't think it was that long ago.  I can't remember the exact date that we made those discussions, trying to drag more capital efficiency.  But it was not, certainly, that far back. 

     And I think, when we made that change, back to the 1.0, it was really driven by the kinds of discussions that Mr. Schultz had had with the Minister, as well as the overall public policy change which we were seeing take place 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you had been, in effect, more disciplined about your capital expenditures over those few years.  And then when you realized that by substituting gas for electric and space heating, and stuff like that, you could help with some public policy concerns, you moved back to the 0.8 test on a routine basis; right?  


MR. PLAYER:  We did move back to it, but I wouldn't suggest that that means it is any less disciplined.  It is trying to address public policy issues and be supportive of this government's actions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, poor choice of words.  I didn't mean that in a bad sense.  I was actually complimenting you on what you were doing in the last few years.


Okay.  So ‑‑ but as you said the other day ‑ and I think this is true - a project that has a 0.8 level is actually not going to be profitable in the end, is it?  That calculation is set up to determine whether there's a net cost to the ratepayer in the long‑term of the project; right?


MR. LADANYI:  That's not exactly how it works.  The way it works is the concept of EBO188 was that the projects would be in an investment portfolio, and the idea of a 0.8 project is that that project would have a cross-subsidy from other projects in the same investment portfolio, not from the ratepayers at large. 


So an investment portfolio is determined essentially on an annual basis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me turn to the next item in here, and that is line 1.2.2 in Exhibit K6.5 and that's replacement mains.


I look at this and your calendar estimate is 30.2 for 2005, after a budget of $26.3, but then your original budget had it going down to 19.9.


Why is that; do you know, Mr. Beaumont?  This is your area; right, Mr. Beaumont?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes, this is my area.  It's a little bit of what we talked about before, that the project planners had put together what they believed were the projects that they would complete in that fiscal year.  But it was missing a number of items that -- as I said before, I would have sent it back and had a look at it again, anyway.


So was just -- this was what the distribution planning department brought forward as their estimate of the costs of the project for that coming year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But didn't you just say that before it went to the EMT on December 17th, you had already approved it; right?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I did not say that or, if I said it, I misspoke, because that is not what happened.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  Well, then who do have responsibility for approving that component of the ‑‑ your area of the capital budget?


MR. BEAUMONT:  It is compiled by the people who prepared individual projects, and they bring it forward as a summary, which is then forwarded to the finance department for inclusion in the overall company numbers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.


MR. BEAUMONT:  I wouldn't say it is approved at that point, at all.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're saying that before December 17th, when the EMT saw this whole budget, senior management had not reviewed the components of the budget, is that right, or am I misunderstanding you?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I would say not in detail.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You were aware, prior to December 17th, that the capital budget currently being proposed didn't have an accelerated cast-iron mains program; right?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I was aware of that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, Mr. Schultz said yesterday, referring to the condition of the cast-iron and bare-steel mains ‑‑ I'm quoting this:   

"I'll honestly tell you that with this knowledge both myself and many of my managers are kept awake at night."


So I take it from the fact that you knew it wasn't in there that you weren't being kept awake at night?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I wouldn't say that was true either.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I guess I don't understand why it wasn't in there in the first place if it was so urgent.


MR. BEAUMONT:  Well, it is exactly why it's in there now, because we made the assessment that it was urgent based on all of the stuff that we had been using as inputs to our decision-making.


You know, the day that that triggered, I'm not sure I can give you a day.  It's an evolutionary process, and that's what took place here.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The genesis of this change was Mr. Schultz's suggestion that it would be a good idea to look at accelerating it; right?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I would disagree with that.  I think the genesis of this change was our desire and our beginning to look at all of our distribution plant in a much different way than we had in the past, and trying to be more comprehensive in how we assessed the risk and trying to put those into some sort of priority and trying to get at least a feeling of what we were prepared to accept going forward, or what we were prepared ‑‑ or what we believed was the correct level to accept going forward.  That's the genesis of it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If I understand the evidence ‑‑ the company's evidence on this, it's a safety issue; right?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Safety and reliability issue, but safety principally.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you identified in January that it's urgent?


MR. BEAUMONT:  We believe it is urgent, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, I think I heard Mr. Schultz say several times that if it were up to him, it would be done in a year.


MR. BEAUMONT:  That's true, and he asked me why we couldn't do it in a year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I guess, then, I would like to see where in your 2005 estimate you have an increase in this area.  Aren't you already working on it?


MR. BEAUMONT:  We are.  There is -- in fact, in 2005, we are going to probably abandon somewhere in the order of 100 kilometres, which is above what we have traditionally done.  If we could have done more, we probably would have tried to do more.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're not doing it on the three-year cycle right now?


MR. BEAUMONT:  It's not the beginning of the three‑year cycle.  This is what we can do in this fiscal year, and you're limited by the ability to plan.  It takes lead-time.  It takes ED permitting.  There's a lot of issues that restrict how fast we can go.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you already have the permitting for the first ones you have to do, right, in the accelerated program?


MR. BEAUMONT:  We have permitting for the ones we have identified for this year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  For 2005?


MR. BEAUMONT:  For 2005.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that doesn't include the accelerated program; right?


MR. BEAUMONT:  In the context of how it's been discussed here, no.


MR. PLAYER:  If I could just add to Mr. Beaumont's remarks, I think this will help the continuity, understanding of what we have been doing with cast-iron and bare-steel.  If you go back to our 2004 year, we had replacement capital actually spent of $21.5 million.  In our current calendar year estimate, we have $30.2 million.  That seems to be about a 50 percent increase.


And then, in going to the 2006 budget, we escalate it again by obviously a much larger increase.  But there already is a pattern of increase taking place on cast-iron to some degree, not to the extent we're seeing it in the 2006 budget, but there already is something that is indicating that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Player, I asked Mr. Beaumont, whose area it is, whether or not there was an accelerated mains program already in operation.  He said "no".  Are you disagreeing with him?


MR. BEAUMONT:  What I said was not in the context as presented in this document, but we are replacing this year more than we have traditionally replaced.  If you want to categorize that as the beginnings of an accelerated program - it's what we can do this year - then you can.  But in the definition that's put forward as part of this application, it's not part of the accelerated program.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're not on a three‑year cycle right now?


MR. BEAUMONT:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.


MR. LADANYI:  Actually, Mr. Shepherd, the amount of cast-iron program is right in evidence.  It's at Exhibit A, tab 5, schedule 1, page 1, and the links are there, the dollars are there.  It is fully discussed, the 2005 program.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. LADANYI:  It's all in evidence and it is all explained.  I don't know -- I mean, we could go there and read you the evidence, but it is all outlined there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm just ‑‑ I'm wondering, Mr. Ladanyi, and this is why -- this is the confusion.  This is an urgent safety issue that we've heard about at some length for the last two days, and so I would have thought you want a three‑year program.  Next year should be year 2.  It shouldn't be year 1.


MR. BEAUMONT:  Well, that would be nice if we could possibly do that, but there is lead time to this.  The projects need to be planned, prepared.  You need to achieve permits.  Even the projects we've laid out this year, we're concerned about whether we're going get the permitting from the city that we need to do those projects.  To go faster would be nice, but not going to happen. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just still dealing with this particular point, can you turn to Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 16, page 39?  Do you have that?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And in the first slide here, you see the second bullet is:

"Current replacement level not keeping up with rate of deterioration."


Do you see that?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We heard, I think it was Mr. Player, this morning talking about that.


But I guess what I didn't hear you talk about is the thing above that, which is a clear ‑‑ not indicating a clear trend of declining break rate.

     I guess this is not intuitive to me, so I need an explanation.  It's not that you're getting more breaks.  It's that you expected to get less breaks in cast-iron main, and you're not getting them; right? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  As far as breaks go, that's right.  Because in theory, we'd been prioritizing the more susceptible pipes up to this point, and you would expect to see that main rate -- main break-rate declining, yes.  That's what that point refers to.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But, in fact, the main break, level has been staying roughly the same per unit-length; right? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Right.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's not actually a worse situation than before.  It’s just that you expected it to be better than before?  

     MR. BEAUMONT:  I think, on a break perspective, it's staying the same.  On a leak perspective, it’s getting worse. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then, back to Exhibit K6.5.  I wonder whether you can just go to line 1.2.3.  That's gone up $23.3 million, from December to January. 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's your additional reinforcements, which we talked about; right?  This is Bobcaygeon and Fenelon Falls? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  No.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No, okay. 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  No.  That, specifically, relates to two projects, Neilson Road reinforcement, and a revised version of the Newmarket reinforcement. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Newmarket was already in there>

     MR. BEAUMONT:  A version of Newmarket was in there.  But the planning people had been assessing the growth, and came back with a new proposal that was, I believe $36.8 million, as opposed to 19.4, originally.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the new one -- does that include some additional capacity for distributed generation? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  No.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  So that's separate.  That’s included in your gas-fired mains possibilities; right? 

     MR. LADANYI:  That's not included there, either.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?

     MR. LADANYI:  It’s not included there, either. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's not anywhere? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Anywhere -- it’s not anywhere in this budget.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then you have an increase from 30.9 to 54.3 in improvement mains.  

     MR. BEAUMONT:  I think that you're on the wrong line, there.   I think it’s service relays, actually. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  Service relays, you're right.  As you get older it is hard to read these things. 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Those are simply the services that are associated with the cast-iron.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay, but -- you’ve got a 23.4 million increase, but that's not all cast-iron mains; right?  Because the increase in cast-iron mains from December to January was only 50 million; right? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Right.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Some of that was in 1.2.2? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Right, right. Yes.  In the replacement category, there are other items other than, simply, the cast-iron acceleration, so -- the details of which the capital panel can speak to.  But there are other items.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.  

     MR. LADANYI:  But, sir, the relays, by the way, are set out at A5, tab 5, schedule 1, page 4.  And there’s -- the cast-iron portion of the service relays is all spelled, out there, in detail.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could turn to Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 16, page 48, please.  Do you have that? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is a comparison that, I guess, somebody did internally, at Enbridge, right, of the total revenue requirement, whether you do the accelerated mains program or the regular mains program.  Right?  For

cast-iron mains. 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Correct.         

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And if I add this up, it looks to me like that area of increased rates -- over those first five years, it totals around 40 million.  Am I in the right ballpark? 

     MR. LADANYI:  We can't -- we're not able to add up these numbers.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you accept that, subject to check? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Well, for the time being, yes, we will.  

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Excuse me.           

     MR. LADANYI:  The witness -- there is another witness who prepared this, Mr. Kancharla.  He is going to be a witness in another panel --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, is he?

     MR. LADANYI:  -- and you can take it up with him. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll ask him about that detail, then. 

     But I do want to ask you one thing about this.  

     This shows that, under the new proposed program -- oh, and by the way, this is a 4-year accelerated, right?  As opposed to the 3-year you proposed.  

     MR. BEAUMONT:  I think that it's, basically, from Day 1, which was the beginning of -- or where we are today, right, in '05. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So he was already anticipating my 2005 questions? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  I suppose he was. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I get it. 

     MR. LADANYI:  No.  Mr. Shepherd, if you have actually ever gone through the evidence, and I don’t - for some reason you're avoiding it, our evidence on accelerated bare-steel and cast-iron -- we talk about the start of the program in 2005, doing 90,000 kilometres in 2005, and that’s what Mr. Kancharla’s reflecting in the schedule.  So there is nothing inconsistent with this.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, I guess I got confused, because this chart shows that the old program and the new program have the same impact on revenue requirement in 2005.  So I didn't think the accelerated program did anything in 2005.  Because this chart says the opposite, doesn't it? 

     MR. PLAYER:  It wouldn't, because the amount that was approved for 2005 is lower than the amount that’s being spent in 2005. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  So the ratepayer -- the shareholder is eating the difference here, correct? 

     MR. PLAYER:  [Nods head]

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Anyway, my question about this is quite a different one.  And that is -- your peak here, in terms of revenue requirement, is in 2008.  Is that right?  Or -- you get to the, sort of, the top level at -- around 2008.  

     MR. LADANYI:  That's what the graph shows. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's the beginning of incentive regulation, as you currently expect it; right? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Can't comment to that.  I have no idea when incentive regulation is going to start.  It could be 2008, it could be 2009, it could be 2010 -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  

     MR. LADANYI:  -- or never.  We really don't know.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to turn to my last area, then.  

     Madam Chair, I am about 15 or 20 minutes away from finishing.  My apologies for going overlong.  Some of those things took longer than I expected. 

     MS. NOWINA:  At least everyone is being consistent, Mr. Shepherd.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So Mr. Schultz, I want to turn to the compensation levels at EGD, and I wonder, in order to do that, if you can assist me by turning up Exhibit K6.1, which I filed yesterday.  Do you have that? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And perhaps we can just take this by baby steps.  Do the headcount figures in this chart represent the actual estimate and budget headcounts for EGD for 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively? 

     MR. LADANYI:  You indicated here on the schedule, Mr. Shepherd, that you’ve taken this from Consumers Coalition of Canada, Interrogatory 121. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  

     MR. LADANYI:  So Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 121.  If we can just turn to that.  That table is showing actual and forecast headcounts, from what I can see.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So the answer is, yes, these are the -- 

     MR. LADANYI:  The answer would be “yes.”  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.   And the overall personnel expense figures for 2004, 2005, and 2006 -- you see the sources for those figures, from your pre-filed evidence:  are those, in fact, the total personnel expenses, by department, for those periods? 

     MR. LADANYI:  They are salaries and employment expenses.   But I want to caution you that there is a lot of other things in there.  That includes -- apart from salaries, it includes travel.  It includes meals, training.  It includes, for example, professional memberships for, let's say, engineers in Society of Professional Engineers, so for lawyers and whatever -- society members.  It often includes accounting professional memberships.  For the law department, I checked:  it actually, also, includes -- the cost of the law library in there, as well.  So there is -- and also in that amount -- that total are -- there’s also part-time labour -- is also included there, as well.  

     So it’s not really comparable to the headcounts as shown in Consumers Coalition of Canada 121.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  Well then, is there somewhere in your evidence -- how much the total compensation levels are for those -- for example, for the 99 people in finance?  Is that in your evidence, somewhere? 


MR. LADANYI:  There is nothing in evidence that can point to the ‑‑ just the pure compensation, no, there isn't anything.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the components of these amounts that are things like training and travel costs, that sort of thing, they're not a big percentage of these costs, are they?


MR. LADANYI:  It really would depend on an individual.  Somebody might have a job that involves a lot of travel, and others would not have a job that would involve that.  So that's why it makes it difficult to compare these things.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  Do I understand, then, that what you're telling me is that, for example, we're seeing here that the costs of each employee of the company went up 12.2 percent from 2004 to 2005.  You're saying that's not just the cost of their salary and benefits.  That's also their travel and other things, included in it, and the increase might be because of those other things, not because of their salaries and benefits?


MR. LADANYI:  Correct.  And if you also look at -- for example, as you get into actuals or estimate, you've got impacts of, for example, employees being on maternity leave.  That would not be shown in the budget.  We can't budget maternity leave, as such.  We don't know who is going to go on maternity leave when we prepare the budget.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Tell us how that would affect the head count and the dollars per head count.


MR. LADANYI:  Well, in the actuals, obviously the person who is on maternity leave will not be receiving a salary.  They will be paid through, I believe, UI.  I'm not an expert on compensation, but I believe that is how it is done.  But on the other hand, when we prepare the budget and the budget would be prepared roughly a year and a half in advance, we would not know which one, if any, of our employees are going to go on maternity leave.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So they're not in the head ‑‑ they are in the head count, but they're not in the dollars?


MR. LADANYI:  In the actual dollars they would not be, but they're in the head count, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, sorry, help me out here.


So if I look at the 2004 actual figures, that total of $62.8 million at the bottom of that column, that is after deducting the amounts you don't have to pay to people on mat leave, for example; right?


MR. LADANYI:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But the number in 2005 estimate of 72 and the number in 2006 budget of 77.7, those assume you're going to have to pay all the people that will be on mat leave?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then aren't those budgets overstated?  You know there's going to be some people who

--


MR. LADANYI:  You don't know which one.  How would you do that?  I think it will be against I believe -- I think there is some human rights legislation that prevents you from asking employees a year and a half in advance if they're going to go on maternity leave.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  So --


MR. LADANYI:  I mean, the school boards can get around this, but we certainly can't.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you know that you're going to have some reduction in your personnel costs because of mat leave; right?


MR. LADANYI:  Not really.  I'm not sure.  This is a difficult thing to predict.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You have 1,768 employees.  You can't project it?


MR. LADANYI:  I suggest that you can take it further with our human resources panel, but that would be one of the ‑‑ I mean, it is only one of the variances that appears in this table.  I'm trying to explain to you that this table, just coming at compensation this way, is going to be difficult to do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, let me just take a couple of examples, then, and see whether we can explore these numbers without getting the ‑‑ I don't want to have to ask you to give us the correct numbers, even though I would love to see them, but I know it would be a bit of work and I would rather not do that, if I don't have to.  


So let me just ask a couple of areas and see whether we can narrow this down.  Let's start with regional operations.  Now, this says that your head count in each of the three years was 956 people, which is admirably consistent; is that correct?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And which -- by the way, I might add, this is 55 percent of your workforce.  Why is it that this number doesn't increase when you have customer additions every year?


MR. LADANYI:  I can't answer that, but I think when you look at the dollars, I should also caution you that you should not assume that their compensation is that low.  When you look at these people, some portion of their salary is capitalized, because these individuals are working on capital projects.  So their compensation certainly wouldn't be $29,000.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the portion that is capitalized might have changed over ‑‑


MR. LADANYI:  The portion capitalized will change to the degree that they are working on capital projects, so they could be the same individual working on maintenance and operations for a while, and they could be working on capital as the need arises.  For example, with the recent rainstorm, I think there are a number of employees who have been called in operations to put extra time in, and I'm not entirely sure how -- it's going to be capital or maintenance trying to work on Finch Avenue because of the storm damage, but that obviously is going to affect the actuals in 2005.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the ‑‑ this 55 percent of your workforce, many of these are unionized employees; is that right?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, they are.


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know roughly how many of that is unionized?


MR. SCHULTZ:  The number coming to mind is about 700 unionized employees, in total.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you know the increases in costs for the unionized employees for 2006, right, because you've signed the contracts already?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That is correct.  It is in there as budget of 3 percent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Three percent.  So if 700 of the employees have a 3 percent cost increase, then I'm just ‑‑ I'm having a hard time understanding how your budget can go up 9.7 percent in 2005 and 8.5 percent in 2006.  I just don't get that.  Can you help me understand that?


MR. LADANYI:  Because there are different capitalization factors involved.  Remember, this is not -- again, as I cautioned you before, it is not just compensation.  There are other things in here, as well.  There is travel.  There is meals.  There is training.  So I can't tell you specifically what portion of this is compensation, only.


If I take you to the budget letter, which I think is indicative of what kind of increases we gave the employees, I can assure you that anybody got anything significantly different than what is in the budget letter.  You can see, by the way, in the budget letter what it is, and I can take you to Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 4, and it's on page 11.  


You can see the wage and salary increases, and they are, it says:

"The wage and salary increases should be budgeted as an overall 3.5 percent increase for salaried employees effective April 1st, 2006 and 3 percent increase for biweekly employees effective January 1st, 2006."


So that's ‑‑ these were the instructions given to the managers preparing the budget, and I can assure you that they stuck by that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, of course, one of these factors you will also have is things like bonuses; right?  So, for example, if we look at the 2005 estimate, that could include some bonus items that you already know are going to be paid; right?


MR. LADANYI:  I believe that the succession is actually budgeted in human resources' budget, not part of the individual departmental budgets.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, really.  Okay.  So then let me turn to one other area.  That's gas storage.  You have this group of 45 people that was in operations, and then moved to OD; right?


MR. LADANYI:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's basically the same people doing the same thing each year; right?


MR. LADANYI:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I guess I have the same question.  Why would the costs of those people go up 22 percent in 2005 and 5 percent in 2006 again?


MR. LADANYI:  Well, specifically with respect to storage, you know, I think you're asking us questions that are really going to the details of each department.  Now, storage, I think if you were to go to their evidence, you can read about it, and I don't know if I have it referenced right here, but it's discussing storage.  I think there was the issue of filling some vacancies in storage.  Probably best to pursue it specifically with the storage group.  You know, there's reasons for it.


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, in case there is any uncertainty about this, except to the extent that intervenors advise that there is not need for a particular panel or witness on any of these O&M departments, there will be witnesses for each O&M department identified.


MS. NOWINA:  I suppose, Mr. Cass, that that depends on how many outstanding questions remain after this panel is finished, so the two are related.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.


MR. CASS:  The point I'm trying to make, though, Madam Chair, is that to the extent that one gets into the level of individual departments, was it really our expectation that this panel would come equipped to be able to answer all of those questions?  If those questions exist, the panels -- the witnesses can be called from the departments to answer them.


MS. NOWINA:  Certainly.  And I don't expect the witnesses to answer questions they're uncomfortable with or that they don't have the information, but if they do have the information and we can avoid hearing one of the other panels because there is a couple of simple questions, it might be to everyone's benefit to hear the answers to those questions.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I'm not sure how much farther I can go with this particular exhibit.  I'm a little bit ‑‑ I'm conflicted about whether to ask for an undertaking to produce the right numbers.  On the one hand, the company has its own case and they can present what they like.  On the other hand, I think it would be of assistance to all of us, including the Board, if we actually knew what the individual increases -‑ not individual increases, but the departmental increase in personnel costs were on this sort of basis.

     So I guess what I'm going to ask the witnesses, is there any more information that you can provide us, so that we can understand -- so that we can get the, sort of, annual increases-per-FTE numbers more readily.  Is there anything you can provide us, or undertake to provide us? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Well, for example, in IGUA Interrogatory 56, which is Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 56, we discuss the basis for our salary increases, and we give material from Conference Board of Canada on salary increases in other industries, showing that our salary increases are comparative.  

     I don't know what more I can tell you.  You know, you’ll have to trust us.  I don't know -- that's the sworn evidence, that that's what the salary increases are.  I don't know what more I can tell you.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess, what I am trying to understand, and I will leave it at this, is -- you know, for example, Mr. Player, your department, you had 100 people this year and you expect to have 99 people next year.  But you need a half a million more for your salary and expenses line in your budget.  

     I guess, you know -- sure, I understand some of that is things other than salaries and benefits.  And, in fact, I'm not suggesting for a minute that your salaries are out-of-line.  I'm just trying to understand what the reasons for these sorts of things are, and that's your department.  

     MR. PLAYER:  Let me address the finance one, in particular, because it is my department, and I think I can -- I'm not going to give you the specific details, because I don't have that kind of stuff that I carry around with me.  

     But what has taken place during that period of time -- refer back to Exhibit 1, tab 5, schedule 121, which, I believe, was referred to by Mr. Shepherd.  It indicates the FTE headcounts on that schedule.  We can see, since 1999, through the 2006 period.  

     Back in 1999, I think, there was 129 that we actually had.  And my recollection that -- 1998 it was, maybe, 138.  It dropped down to 80 in 2000.  And it moved, sort of, through the years, but I wouldn't say constantly, during that period of time.  

     One of the reasons for that is, we will tend to develop people within a financial area, move them into an operational area, or move them into an engineering area, or some other area of the company, so they provide those analytical skills in that department.  So, to some extent, it will fluctuate up and down, from year to year.  

     In the particular years, I think, that Mr. Shepherd has in question, we have had a number of maternity leaves.  And I think, perhaps, that's why Mr. Ladanyi was mentioning that, because he's in finance, so he sees that -- so that's affected our costs.  

     We've also had this stuff called Sarbanes-Oxley and 198, and so on, taking place.  That's really thrown up the increase in the cost of our employees, as well as the type of employees that we need in the finance area, and that also affects training.  So you have to have send people out for special training on this.  We've had some turnover take place in that area.  I lost my head of -- my Manager of Audit, my Manager of Internal Controls, two absolutely key areas when you're going into a period of heavy compliance around SOX.  

     And the increases that they gained by going to other companies was - I'm not going to quote them, here, because that’s not fair - but it was very significant.  So then when you go back out into the market and you try to replace those people, again, you're looking at fairly significant increases. 

     Those are the kinds of things that we've seen taking place in the finance area.  

     I think, in order to really give comfort to Mr. Shepherd on his schedule, which he’s pulled apart here, is to say, Okay, well, let's do all the detail.  Who did training?  Add those all up.  Who did -- who had lunches -- business lunches?  We'll add those all up.  Et cetera, et cetera.  And it’s just a matter of how much detail we bring forward to this Board.  It can be done, it's just a matter of cost and time.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, those are my questions. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  

     Mr. Dingwall, how much time do you plan on taking? 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Between half an hour and 45 minutes.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we stop for our afternoon break, then, and proceed with you afterwards.  We will resume at 20 minutes to 3 o'clock.  


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 2:20 p.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 2:40 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Mr. Dingwall.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. DINGWALL:

MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, Madam Chairman.  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Brian Dingwall.  I'm here in the capacity of counsel to Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.  


For the first series of questions, I'm going to ask the panel to refer to a document which I will also seek to have entered as an exhibit, which is four pages and which is -- has as its front page the cover page for a report entitled "Safety Performance and Integrity of the Natural Gas Distribution Infrastructure" from January of 2005.


MR. BATTISTA:  We can give this exhibit the number of K7.2, entitled as Mr. Dingwall said, "Safety Performance and Integrity of the Natural Gas Distribution Infrastructure, Selections".

EXHIBIT NO. K7.2: "SAFETY PERFORMANCE AND INTEGRITY OF THE NATURAL GAS DISTRIBUTION INFRASTRUCTURE, SELECTIONS"

MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you.  This document, by way of preface, was provided to the panel prior to the break after the lunch hour, and it forms a portion of the report which was discussed at some length this morning.


I have also e‑mailed a copy of the document itself to Mr. Hoey, so I am sure that will assist them in the completion of the undertaking from this morning to produce the document in full.


Panel, can you tell me whether or not Enbridge Gas Distribution was a participating company in this study?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. BEAUMONT:  We are an AGF member.  I'm not sure that we are ‑‑ participated directly in the study itself.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  Would you agree with me that in reading the major findings portion of this study, which I have provided, that there appears to be a decreasing trend towards incidents over the time period of the study?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I believe that is one of the findings of the study, yes.


MR. DINGWALL:  In paragraph 4 of the major findings, it described a major cause of incidents, and when incidents are referenced, I believe the study terms them as pipeline breakages which cause significant damage of some sort, and I think there is a dollar threshold.


At paragraph 4, it appears that a significant cause in the United States of these incidents is the action of third parties, such as excavation done.  Would you agree with that statement?


MR. BEAUMONT:  That statement is correct.  And, for the record, the same would apply to Canada, as well.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, there was a significant amount of discussion this morning about this study being one of the catalysts towards the acceleration of the time frame with respect to cast iron replacement for EGD.


What is it about the study that caused such concern to the company?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Well, to be clear, when we made the assessment on cast iron, this was just an input to it.  I would say that the decision would have proceeded whether this study existed or not, because of the other factors that we had in place.


What this did, as I said this morning, was validate some of the things that we believed were to be true about the performance of cast-iron.


Again, I think that, you know, when you think about where this presentation was originally made in terms of tabling this before our executive team, part of what we were trying to do was put that in context, in terms of the decision that we had taken, as well.  So, you know, this helped provide some context.  It helped validate some of the findings or some the beliefs we had about the performance of our own system as it compared to other cast- iron systems in North America.  


But, in and of itself, it wouldn't have driven us, because our system is unique in a lot of respects.


MR. DINGWALL:  I notice that the study has a figure within it that you've quoted at a couple of different places within the evidence, that 4 percent of distribution pipes in the States are cast-iron.  Do you know what percentage of Enbridge's franchise would be for cast-iron?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Off the top of my head, no.  Mr. Ladanyi may be able to find a reference to it, but ...

     MR. DINGWALL:  He's good at that.


MR. BEAUMONT:  Well ...


[Witness panel confers]


MR. BEAUMONT:  I'm not sure to what degree of accuracy you want this number, but if this suffices, we know we have about 700 kilometres left.  We have roughly 32,000 kilometers of main in the system.


MR. DINGWALL:  That puts it in a proper context.  So somewhere less than 4 percent, but probably still in the same ballpark?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes.  Probably closer to 2 percent.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, at the third page of this new exhibit, there is ‑‑ under section 8.2, there are a number of things that the survey has identified that have improved safety, and it's in paragraph 2 on that page that these are discussed.  Can you tell me whether or not EGD undertakes any similar efforts?


MR. BEAUMONT:  I would say that in one fashion or another we're undertaking efforts in all five of these areas.  We absolutely have cathodic protection systems.  We absolutely do leak survey.  And relevant to cast-iron, I guess, we do on a frequency more than what is called for by code.  


Operator qualification programs are unique to United States, but we believe that as part of this distribution integrity legislation that's anticipated in Canada, there will be something similar around -- whether they call it operator qualification or not, we're not sure, but we're preparing for that.


And one-call systems, we're probably the leading advocate in Ontario for the introduction of a legislative one-call system for the province.  And, of course, planned replacement programs we have talked about at some length.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, I take it that many of these mitigation programs are things which have been in place with Enbridge for some years; is that correct?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Well, cathodic protection and leak survey, I would certainly say that is true.  Operator qualification as it's defined today, I don't think that is true.  I think that is relatively new, although, you know, the way to perhaps think about this is about defining the skill sets of your employees, and then putting in place programs to make sure that they have those skill sets and that you're testing to those skill sets.  So, I mean, there has been activities like that in place in the utility.


One-call systems, no.  We have been moving towards that, though, and, as I said, we're one of the proponents of trying to get that legislated in Ontario today.  And planned replacement, again, we have talked about.


MR. DINGWALL:  As I understand it, in the States the regulations around inspection require frequent inspection for cast-iron and either reduction in pressure immediately or replacement of pipes in the event that inspection spots something wrong; is that correct?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Well, I would honestly have to know what specifically you're referring to, but most of the legislation -- there is national legislation, but there is also state legislation that varies somewhat.  So, I mean, I couldn't confirm or deny that exactly is the case, particularly with respect to cast-iron.


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, can you give me an overview of what Enbridge's historical efforts with respect to inspection and replacement have been?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Perhaps I could get you to ask that in a slightly different way, because we do a significant number of inspections of various types.


MR. DINGWALL:  Well, let's talk about cast-iron, since that seems to be the focus of what we're here for today.  With respect to cast-iron pipes, do you have any protocols with respect to how often you would inspect cast-iron pipes; over what frequency, depending on length of cast-iron pipe; and then how you would then address anything that you found that was unsuitable?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Well, again, it's a broad question, but I will do my best to answer it.


First of all, don't forget the pipe is varied.  So for the most part we can't see it on a day-to-day basis, Finch Avenue excepted.  And so the inspection is done more on a leak-survey basis.  So, basically, where cast-iron exists in wall-to-wall concrete areas, we would leak survey that, for example, four times per year.  

     The number of leaks that are identified would then be part of the input that are put into prioritizing the replacement that I spoke about earlier.  That's how they decide which pipes to do.  

     The pace of that replacement we have already talked about at some length.  And in addition to that, I guess, it's driven somewhat by the road activity that's going on in the community.  So where we know if the city is going to go through and, you know, redo a water main or sewer in a street that has cast-iron, we would normally go in at the same time and replace it.  Because one of the biggest causes of failures is ground disruption.  

     So, besides frost coming in and out of the ground, the other part is when people are digging, obviously, so that we would go in normally and replace when we have the opportunity.  And beyond that, if we've had a number of leaks or breaks in a particular area that the maintenance people have responded to, they will bring individual lengths forward to be replaced, because they see those as particularly of concern.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, I believe one of the other reasons that you would coincide your replacement or inspections along with municipal efforts, would be to save some cost on the excavation; would that be correct? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  I would say that's probably more a side-benefit than the purpose of coordinating.  

     Having said that, though, we do know that both Bell and the City of Toronto have indicated that they have accelerated programs in place for their own infrastructure over the next little while.  So we've had -- begun discussions with them to see if there is a way to go in and do our projects in some coordinated fashion, that benefits all of us from a cost perspective.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Have they given an indication of what portion of their infrastructure they are going to be addressing in an accelerated program? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  As Mr. Ladanyi reminds me in Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 79, we do talk about -- at that time, what Toronto Water had indicated they had, which was a budget of approximately 35 kilometers of water mains in 2004 and 55,000 in 2005.   And then, as far as I know, we hadn't received, from that point forward -- other than an indication that they were going to probably go at a faster pace.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  At what point in 2006 is field-force transformation likely to be in place, together with the hand-held units, and all of that? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  We intend to have that in place starting in the fourth quarter of this calendar year, but we will implement that in a phased approach.  And it’s not likely to be fully in place until, probably, mid-2006.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Would the cast-iron replacement program benefit from the company having some experience on its new management systems, and in maximizing the efficiency of its field force? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  It’s potential -- it could benefit from that.  I think that, probably, the biggest benefit is going to come from the way that we capture information, once we replace the cast-iron, in terms of having much more accurate information on where our mains are in those locations.  

     The scheduling of it is -- you know, field force in the work-management system is beneficial to, sort of, all aspects of the business, but far more beneficial on the high-volume routine-type of work.   These projects are going to be individual, fairly significant stand-alone projects, when we go in to do cast-iron area, for example.  So some of those benefits and the high volume stuff don't appear in this type of case.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm looking at the company's evidence on the program.  I understand that the cast-iron replacement program affects many different areas of pipe, not simply the large-service mains, but also smaller service lines; is that correct? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Well, as I think I have tried to describe, associated with the mains themselves -- so the mains are those pieces of pipe that are more or less parallel to the street, if you will.  And then the services that come off that are to individual houses.  And that's correct, they are also affected, and have been an input into why we believe that there is an urgency with this, because of the nature of those -- of a good proportion of those services.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  So would it be fair to say that, since you're going to have to deal with not just the street, but the lines to the houses, as well, there are going to be some logistical challenges? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  There will always be logistical challenges when you're working in a built-up urban area, where all -- like, the cast-iron all exists today, and with the number of customers that are affected.  Absolutely.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm somewhat puzzled by your not wanting to wait until you’ve got a handle on how EnVision works, and that's fully in-force, before rolling out a program like this.  It sounds like there’s -- there are significant savings which could be missed.  

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Well, I'm not sure I would agree with that, that there are significant savings.  But I’m not, also, sure that, even if there were, that it would influence what I’d be proposing, in terms of the timing of cast-iron replacement.  It's not a financial exercise.  It's a safety exercise and a reliability exercise.  And we've said many times that we believe - very much so - that we need to do this as quickly as possible.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Are you aware of any time-lines that other utilities have put in place for the replacement of cast-iron lines? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  We're just looking for a reference.  I know it was addressed in one interrogatory, at least some companies.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  In the interests of time, maybe you could just me an undertaking to provide the reference. 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  All right.     

     MR. DINGWALL:  And we'll move on.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  We’ll give that Undertaking No. 7 -- J 7.9 -- sorry, .10.  That's a reference of other utilities' experience with cast-iron replacement.  

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Okay.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.10:  TO PROVIDE THE REFERENCE FOR THE MATERIAL IN EVIDENCE AS TO THE EXPERIENCE OF OTHER UTILITIES WITH CAST-IRON REPLACEMENT, IN PARTICULAR, TIME-LINES FOR SUCH REPLACEMENT

     MR. DINGWALL:  For the next series of questions, I'm going to be referencing just -- some of the general comments that the panel made yesterday to Mr. Thompson.  

     I believe that one of the significant factors affecting the 2006 budget - which is unique to 2006 - is the challenge of having new generation in the province; is that correct? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  I understand that in the past -- well, I understand that there are circumstances where it is not physically necessary for generators to connect to a distribution system; rather, if it were feasible, they could connect directly to a pipeline; is that correct? 

     MR. LADANYI:  I don't think that feasibility may, necessarily, be the only issue.  There would be an issue of whether they should be bypassing the distribution system, by connecting directly to a transmission pipeline.  That becomes an issue that the Board has to decide.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  If the Board decided in a circumstance that a generator could bypass the distribution system, there would be no connection costs to the distribution ratepayers, would there? 

     MR. LADANYI:  That's right.  The entire costs would be borne by somebody else.  It could be TransCanada costs:  in that case, that cost would end up, in some ways, being passed to us, because it would form part of TransCanada’s rate base.  I’m just giving you an example, but I can't specifically tell you.  That's very a speculative question. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Traditionally, Enbridge has opposed bypass applications; is that correct?  Within its franchise area. 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, that's right.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Is it a principle -- is it a statement of principle, really? 

     MR. LADANYI:  It's not a statement of principle.  

Enbridge has a franchise and part of the franchise is that we are the party that provides gas service in the area where we hold the franchise.  That's what the word "monopoly" means, in a monopoly franchise and -- but I think this is more of a legal matter.  Perhaps Mr. Cass can help us here.


MR. CASS:  I could help us here, Madam Chair, but I am hesitating to venture into the issue of bypass, so perhaps if Mr. Dingwall will proceed with his questions and ‑-


MS. NOWINA:  I think so.  I don't think we need any argument today on the bypass issue.  So, Mr. Dingwall, if you could continue.


MR. DINGWALL:  I'll keep going.  Mr. Cass is prodded awake now.  I'm sure the panel feels more comfortable. 


Is Enbridge Gas Distribution planning on intervening or stating a position in the bypass application that Greenfields has recently filed with the Board?


 MR. SCHULTZ:  We would, but I'm personally not aware of it, but we would handle it at that time.


MR. DINGWALL:  I believe the application is for a group of companies to construct a power plant that rather than connect to the Union Gas distribution franchise ‑‑ distribution system, would connect directly to a pipeline.  I believe it is called Vector.


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes, I am familiar with that pipeline.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  So at this point in time, EGD has no plans to involve itself in that proceeding or state a position?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I believe we have already.  I'm not just personally familiar with it at this stage.


MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  In the interest of accuracy with respect to estimates, those are CME's questions.  Thank you very much, panel.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  We may think about an award we will give for people who stick to their estimates.


[Laughter]


Ms. DeMarco, I think you were next up.


MS. DeMARCO:  Is that meant as incentive to help the competition?


MS. NOWINA:  Indeed.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. DeMARCO:

MS. DeMARCO:  I should be quite brief.  Good afternoon, panel.  These questions are asked primarily on behalf of Superior Energy.  I do have one or two on behalf of TransAlta and I will identify specifically those questions.  


My questions are focussed primarily on two main areas.  The first is corporate policy in the context of electricity policy and time lines, and the second very brief series of questions is in relation to the relationship with Direct Energy, more precisely Direct Energy Essential Home Services.


Mr. Schultz and Mr. Player, as part of the executive management committee of the utility, you have duties to both your shareholders and your customers; is that a very fair broad-brush statement?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes, it is.


MS. DeMARCO:  And as part of those duties, you're required to formulate corporate policy in the context of the current and changing North American natural gas market; is that correct?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  And in formulating policy and strategy, you're required to bring to bear also a long-term vision of the industry; that's correct?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That would be a fair statement.


MS. DeMARCO:  And also undertake some long‑term policy planning?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  Is it fair to say in that same vein, in much the same vein as has affected the accelerated mains replacement program, often long‑term planning can affect short‑term or in-near O&M costs capital cost and expenditures?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I suspect that is true, yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  The same could be said of revenue?  Long‑term planning could also ‑‑


MR. SCHULTZ:  Correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  So in order to plan policy and strategy responsibly, would it be fair to say that you would have to consider and adapt to a number of the elements in the changing Ontario natural gas market?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That would be fair.


MS. DeMARCO:  And would those include the rapidly changing Ontario electricity market?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes, it would.


MS. DeMARCO:  And particularly the Ontario government procurement of natural gas‑fired electricity generation output?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That would be certainly a significant factor, yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  And the OEB's processes to implement its Natural Gas Forum decisions?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  And those decisions, those processes, would include the Natural Gas Electricity Interface Review?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes, it would, which we are certainly participating in.


MS. DeMARCO:  And the cost allocation and rate unbundling processes?


MR. SCHULTZ:  It would include all of those.


MS. DeMARCO:  The incentive regulation or incentive rate-making processes?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I'm not quite sure of that question.


MS. DeMARCO:  PBR?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes, but what's it in relation to?


MS. DeMARCO:  These would all be significant considerations that you'd have to consider as part of your long‑term and short-term planning?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That's correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  And storage proceeding?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  In particular, forbearance application that's coming forward?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That is part -- certainly whether storage should be regulated or not is certainly part of the Natural Gas Forum hearing that will take place, yes.


MS. DeMARCO:  And quite important to the company; is that fair to say?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Very important, yes.  Well, important to the citizens of this province in terms of electricity generation.  Certainly if we're replacing coal-fired generation, storage is very necessary, and regulated versus market‑based rates are a very important factor in that.


MS. DeMARCO:  And at one point in time, the company had filed with the Energy Board a store co‑application.  Can you provide the status of that application?


MR. SCHULTZ:  We had been working on that, yes, and we did not ‑‑ well, right now, it's basically sitting on the shelf based upon the Natural Gas Forum.  In addition to that, knowing that there will be a hearing process on storage, we were looking to participate in that and see what the Board's decision is on that prior to moving forward.


MS. DeMARCO:  So any corporate and O&M policy planning in relation to storage company application is basically suspended; is that fair to say?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That's fair.


MS. DeMARCO:  Would another relevant factor in your short-term and long‑term planning be the development of liquefied natural gas proceedings ‑‑ sorry, facilities in North America?


MR. SCHULTZ:  We would look to all types of supply for natural gas in order to provide natural gas to our customers and to ensure that we did everything we could to reduce price volatility, and LNG I believe is a potential source of supply for that.


MS. DeMARCO:  And, in fact, your shareholder has some direct interest in LNG facilities; is that fair to say?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Enbridge Inc. is involved in a project that is looking to pursue LNG facilities.  That's still in the planning stages.


MS. DeMARCO:  And another relevant factor would be the skyrocketing - and that's my term, so feel free to qualify it, if necessary ‑ domestic and international oil and gas prices?  That would be very relevant to your short- and long‑term planning?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes, it would.


MS. DeMARCO:  And, similarly, the Canadian implementation of the Kyoto protocol and its effect on large final emitters, that would be very relevant to your corporate and O&M planning?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes, it would.


MS. DeMARCO:  And, in particular, any portion of the Kyoto protocol implementation pertaining to natural gas distributors; is that fair?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That's fair.


MS. DeMARCO:  So very broadly, then, it is in this context that Enbridge Gas Distribution is trying to analyze and predict the effects of these issues and discharge its duties to maximize revenue for its shareholder and address the needs of its customers; would that be fair?


MR. SCHULTZ:  In a balanced fashion, absolutely correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  So in order to do that, would it be fair to say that you're trying to find opportunities and limit liabilities?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Certainly it's -- one of the roles of an entity and role of myself, as president, is to limit the liabilities of the organization.  That would be natural.  We would pursue growth opportunities where it was effective for our customers or where it was certainly effective for the citizens of this province.  It may not have those opportunities at the moment.


MS. DeMARCO:  And would one such opportunity, Mr. Schultz, certainly be the growth in the natural gas‑fired generation sector?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That is an opportunity.  I guess it's particularly appealing, from my perspective, in the fact that our load in the summer is quite small versus our load in the winter, and that would help balance it and I think would allow for more efficient operations.


MS. DeMARCO:  And, in fact, your application originally budgeted amounts to serve such customers; is that fair?


MR. SCHULTZ:  That is correct.


MS. DeMARCO:  Specifically at Exhibit B1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 1?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, we have that.


MS. DeMARCO:  Some $16.3 million and an additional $20 million were budgeted to serve electricity generation facilities, new electricity generation facilities?

     MR. LADANYI:  That's right, the two RFP projects.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And that was just pertaining to the estimated capital costs for mains to serve those customers; is that fair? 

     MR. LADANYI:  That's right.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And, Mr. Schultz, would it also be fair to say that there would be associated revenues resulting from serving such customers? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  There would be some revenues.  But of course, the nature of that particular customer, if we call it -- there are very low revenues associated -- or, at least, the rates are very low, in comparison to other classes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  You wouldn't consider them to be target customers? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I wouldn't target one versus any other one.  We're here to provide service to all of our customers, wherever we can.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Can I ask you turn to IGUA Interrogatory No. 94, which is found at Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 94, at page 1.  Do you have that? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes, we do.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Specifically, the third sentence, there, indicates that the company identified two types of customers as target customers: existing large-volume customers, who may benefit from unbundled rates, and potential power-generation customers.  

     Would you agree with me, in that context, the company viewed them to be target customers? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  As I read this, it's in relation to use of rate-300.  And in the use of rate-300, those would be the types of customers, yes.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So target customers strictly in the use of rate-300?  Or target customers, generally? 

     MR. LADANYI:  We believe this interrogatory deals with the rate-300.  And, essentially, it says that rate-300 is designed to serve those customers.  That's what we believe the interrogatory is saying.  It's not an interrogatory that we're familiar with, at all.  I believe there is a subsequent panel on rate-300, and you can take it up with them, perhaps.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Is it fair to say, however, in this context, the word “target” was used in relation to these customers? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  In relation to 300?  Yes, it was used. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  In addressing the capital and O&M needs of these new customers, would it be fair to say that the company is considering new and expanding services and rates? 

     MR. LADANYI:  I think, in general terms, yes, we are looking at special needs of these customers.  We've had consultations at which - I think you participated at -- where the needs of these customers were discussed. 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Let me be more specific.  Would it be fair to say that, in relation to expanding and new large-industrial and power-generation customers, the company is considering new and expanded rates and services? 

     MR. LADANYI:  I don't know if I can add anything more than I've said already.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Mr. Schultz, I understood, in your response to Mr. Shepherd, that you indicated that you have had several meetings with Minister Duncan in relation to such new and expanded services, and the role that you might play in relation to the electricity-supply needs in the growing sector; is that fair? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Well, it’s fair that I have many discussions with the Minister, on a variety of topics.  That happened to be included in one of the many discussions, just in terms of the utility's role.  And he, certainly, was interested in knowing the kinds of things we have been doing and could do in the future.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And that, certainly, might include some new opportunities for the company. 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Absolutely.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  I am now going to move into my second area of questioning, which should be very, very brief.  Specifically, at tab A6 -- sorry, section A6 -- Exhibit A6, tab 2, schedule 4, page 11, of the company's evidence.  

     I'm sorry, Exhibit A6, tab 2, schedule 4, page 11.  Do you have that? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Give us a moment.  We haven't located it yet.  

     MR. LADANYI:  Are you saying A6, tab 2, schedule 4, appendix 2?   Or -- where are we? 

     MS. DeMARCO:  A6, tab 2, schedule 4, page 11, is the reference I've got.  Page 11 of 17, under paragraph 30.  

     MS. CHAPLIN:  It's before the attachment, Mr. Ladanyi. 

     MR. LADANYI:  I found it now, thank you.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And if you just follow me down, counting down the bullets.  In the fourth bullet, following the colon under paragraph 30, there are specific line items related to the O&M, pertaining to CIS replacement costs.  

     And one such item indicates that you would need to remove 5 million per year, for extra costs that Enbridge Gas Distribution will be responsible to pay for customer-care services, because it is assumed that the failure of the ECSI CWLP to provide a new CIS will prompt Direct Energy Essential Home Services to seek an alternative billing solution.  Have I got that right? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, you do.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So would it be fair to say that 5 million is a noteworthy portion of the proposed CIS replacement budget? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, I think that is fair to say.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And as a result, the financial aspects associated with the Direct Energy relationship is not pocket change, in the context of this rates case; is that fair? 

     MR. PLAYER:  I think that’s also fair comment.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So I have two specific questions regarding your perception, as management, of the utility's relationship with Direct Energy Essential Home Services, particularly, in light of how this relationship impacts O&M costs.  

     Specifically, does EGD management view Direct Energy Essential Home Services to be an affiliate? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Definitely not.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Does EGD management view Direct Energy Essential Home Services to be a related party? 

     MR. PLAYER:  No.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  So the relationship is strictly between your shareholder and Direct Energy Essential Home Services? 

     MR. PLAYER:  I think the -- we share access to the bill through CustomerWorks.  So you're right in that it is a relationship with our -- with the CustomerWorks company.  So we both have that relationship with CustomerWorks.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  And that relationship does have a financial impact on your O&M budget? 

     MR. PLAYER:  It does.  

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Miss DeMarco.  

     Mr. MacIntosh, are you going to question for Energy Probe? 

     MR. MACINTOSH:  I am.  I realize that, yesterday, I promised you Mr. Adams would cross, but he became engaged in the Board Staff consultations on service-quality requirements, held concurrently to this proceeding.  So, by your leave, I’ll move up.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Certainly.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MACINTOSH:  

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Madam Chair, Energy Probe is appearing today representing its residential customer-supporters in Ontario, of which we have some number of thousands.  We're also representing a broader public interest concern, with respect to the overall financial health of our utilities.  In cooperating with other intervenors in this proceeding, separating cross‑examination duties, Energy Probe finds itself at the end of a well‑canvassed panel, and so we're going to content ourselves to examine only two areas of interest, which would be rate trend comparison and Exhibit K6.8.


With regard to our first area of interest, I would ask you to turn to Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 75, which would be Exhibit I, tab 8, schedule 75.


It's my understanding that Mr. Thompson asked some questions on this this morning.  


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, we have it.


MR. MACINTOSH:  Mr. Schultz, you will note a graph produced by Union Gas entitled "Residential Bill Comparison Southwest Service Area" showing rate trends for a residential customer of Union Gas with a fixed annual volume of gas.  And as background, I would point out that the period of 1993 to 2005 delivery and storage rate trend, represented on the graph as the black portion of each column, has been flat.  In fact, the cost of delivery and storage service for residential customers has declined by a dollar.


Turning to page 2 of this interrogatory, Enbridge has provided a graph for residential customers for the period 1996 through 2006.  The Enbridge delivery and storage rate trend is upward.  For residential customers, using this bill comparison, the cost has gone from $346 in '96 to $398 to the end of 2005, an increase of $52 or 15 percent.  However, if we include the 2006 proposed increase, the 2006 costs would be $428, an increase of $82 or 24 percent above 1996 rates.


So Union has been able to achieve stable delivery and storage rates while maintaining shareholder returns around the Board-approved level.  Mr. Schultz, in your opinion, why has Union been successful in keeping its rates stable?


MR. SCHULTZ:  I really can't respond to what Union does.  They manage their own business.  Enbridge is a unique franchise area, unique environment.  And I would not be able to comment.  Mr. Ladanyi has some further thoughts on this.


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  I think you have to look at the nature of the two businesses.  We have a customer base that essentially is very residential customer oriented.  We have to install a lot of mains to serve new subdivisions around the GTA, for example.  These are all costs and these would be reflected in the upward pressure on rates.  These new assets have to be in rate base, and you can see it here, as well.


Union Gas does not expand as fast as we do and, therefore, they're -- essentially, their existing rate base would be depreciating.  So it could be depreciation of their existing rate base, and it is probably not offsetting to my -- or more than probably offsetting their additions to plant.  In our case, our plant is growing faster than our depreciation.  


So I think you can see that reflected here in distribution rates.


MR. MACINTOSH:  Would you agree that Enbridge's residential and small business customers have, in recent years, enjoyed the benefits of regulatory decisions that are now phasing out hidden cross-subsidies to industrial customers, and that the phase-out of these cross-subsidies has moderated the underlying rate increase trend for residential customers?


MR. LADANYI:  This is, in some ways, a trick question, so I am almost afraid to answer it.


MR. MACINTOSH:  But you don't know which trick.


MR. LADANYI:  Yes.  I know there has been a fair amount of discussions about the rate design over the last few years, and the allocation particularly of upstream costs amongst different rate classes.  And there is -- I believe currently we're in the phasing period of transferring more costs to some of the large-volume customers, who I think -- and some of them are not too pleased with that, but, nevertheless, that's what's going on.  So that has been an issue that has been before the Board for the last, I think, three years, if I am correct.  


So, in essence, you are correct, but I don't want to agree necessarily to your kind of critical language. 


MR. MACINTOSH:  Well, let's look at it in a different way.  Enbridge and Union have many similarities.  Both work under comparable pension and medical benefits regimes.  Both enjoy the same labour laws, similar corporate structures, the same regulators, similar size, similar residential customers and even similar age of assets.


Does the panel agree that Union is the most comparable utility to Enbridge in North America?


MR. LADANYI:  The word "comparable" is a tricky one, because each utility is unique.  Union, for example, has a transmission system, which we do not.  Union has a much larger proportion of industrial customers to their total customer base than we do.  They serve a different geographic area.  For example, they have a lot of their system in northern Ontario and eastern Ontario, where they would have a lot of main for relatively few customers.  They have a lower growth rate than we do.  


So all of these things affect Union's numbers when you compare them to ours.  I mean, I don't want to go into an area where we would be comparing ourselves to Union, but you are probably familiar with Union's numbers and you will know that their O&M per customer is substantially higher than ours.  And I don't want to quote you a specific number, because I don't want to create any controversy here, but you will know that.  


So they're starting from a different base than we are for a variety of reasons.


MR. MACINTOSH:  Well, then here is the question.  How is it that Union can achieve this excellent result over more than a decade, while Enbridge appears to be losing ground?


MR. LADANYI:  Again, as I explained earlier to you, we're not losing ground.  We are facing a different environment here.  The kind of growth rates that we are experiencing in the 905 areas around Toronto and also in around Ottawa, in the suburbs around Ottawa, the kind of growth rates, the new housing that is being built is requiring us to install a lot of new mains, new services, new meters, new regulating stations.  This all costs money.  And we're adding to our fixed plant at a faster rate than the depreciation of the existing old plant, and that is causing upward pressure on the rates.


MR. PLAYER:  Just to add to Mr. Ladanyi's comments, while on a cost-per-customer basis density can help you, if you're looking at total costs, density really hurts you a lot, because the costs ‑‑ when you think in the city of Toronto, the costs to do a repair or to do an install, with the traffic congestion, et cetera - I don't have to go too far down that path - you can quickly see it is very costly to do things relative if you're in London, Ontario or some rural area, based on the different mix that Union have got.  And I don't think anyone would dispute that.  It's just a different cost structure entirely.


MR. MACINTOSH:  But would these differences have changed over the last decade?


MR. PLAYER:  I think they would have intensified, in our instance here.  I mean, you can drive around the city.  How long does it take to get from one part to the other?  In London, Ontario, I don't think that is quite the same case.


MR. MACINTOSH:  I'm going to turn to my other area of enquiry and ask if you would turn up K6.8.


 MR. PLAYER:  We're having some difficulty, sorry.  Is that one of the ones that was added?

     MR. MACINTOSH:  This was -- 

     MR. PLAYER:  Oh, that thing, okay.  

     MR. MACINTOSH:  It may have been held this way.  

[Mr. MacIntosh holds up a chart] 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes.  We have it now.     

     MR. MACINTOSH:  All right.  This chart examines only O&M costs per customer, not the whole cost-of-service picture that is driving rates; is that fair? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Yes, that is fair.  

     MR. MACINTOSH:  And am I correct in believing that this chart does not reflect the increases proposed for 2006? 

     MR. PLAYER:  Also correct.     

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Are most of the utilities in the American Gas Association survey US firms? 

     MR. PLAYER:  It also includes Canadian firms.  I can't tell you the proportion it is, sorry.  

     MR. MACINTOSH:  All right.  Would you agree that the -- for example, the health-care costs for US utilities, both with respect to current and retired employees, are probably quite a bit higher than your own? 

     MR. LADANYI:  In general terms, we’ll agree with that.        

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Can you indicate to me where Union Gas is on this chart? 

     MR. PLAYER:  We don't have the -- we don't have the names behind these.  

     MR. MACINTOSH:   (inaudible)

     MR. SCHULTZ:  They're code names on there, just for that purpose, because they are confidential. 

     MR. MACINTOSH:  I see that.  You would not have been represented on the chart by "E"? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  That is correct.  

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Well, it does seem to us that, since there are so many in the survey, that most of them must have been US counterparts to you.  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  There is no question that the majority would be US.  

     MR. MACINTOSH:  And I just thought that I would ask you one last question, in looking at the differences between US -- your US counterparts and the achievements that gas utilities have made in Ontario.  And would you think this is partly true, not only to the efforts of the OEB to provide an open hearing of issues, but also to the fact that intervenors scrutinize and validate your rate structure? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Are you suggesting that intervenors would not be scrutinizing rate structures of some of these US utilities?  Most of them have regulatory commissions and boards, and they have hearings, so there would be a lot of scrutiny there. 

     MR. MACINTOSH:  To this extent? 

     MR. LADANYI:  I believe -- you know, I can't, obviously, speak on behalf of all of the states in the United States, but I am sure there is a lot of scrutiny in many of states.  

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Those are my questions, Madam Chair.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.  

     Mr. Millar, do you have any questions? 

     MR. MILLAR:  Just very briefly, Madam Chair.  And it’s really a clarification matter.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR: 

MR. MILLAR:  I'm wondering if the panel can turn to Exhibit K6.5, that's the 2006 test year capital budget worksheet.  I just have a couple of clarification questions.  

     I'm going to be looking, chiefly, at column 7, column 8 and, I guess, probably, column 9, as well.  I believe I heard Mr. Schultz indicate yesterday, when he was questioned about the increase in the budget amounts, he pointed to two main drivers, that I heard.  And those were -- safety was the biggest one, I believe.  But he also mentioned gas-fired generation; isn't that correct?

     MR. SCHULTZ:  There is two of them, that is correct.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Are there other major drivers, outside of those two? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  For the capital side, it would be not just gas-fired generation, but, also, the shortage of electricity within the province, and what we could do to assist in that regard.  So therefore, some of the - as it’s labelled - "aggressive system expansion" would also be a driver.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  

     And I see from column 7 to column 8, if you look at total capital expenditures - and we’ve covered this ground, so I won't belabour the point - we’ve from 316.2 to 458.8, which is an increase of approximately is 142 million.  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And I see in column 9, up at the top -- I think it’s about at 1.1.1.   This is gas-fired

electric-generating mains.  We have an amount here for 36.3 million.  And it's under the broad heading “2006 Test Year Capital Budget - Major Components.”  

     I'm wondering if you can tell me if that number -- if the 36.3 is incorporated into column 7? 

     MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it is.  Yes.  I think when Mr. Schultz was talking about what is driving the capital budget, he mentioned gas-fired generation, speaking of the entire capital budget, and not of the change, specifically, between December version and the final, filed version.  

     MR. MILLAR:  I see.  So -- 

     MR. LADANYI:  So the RFP projects - which is the $36 million - were in the initial version, which was prepared in December, and they were also in the final version.  That was not one of the items that was added.  

     And I think I was -- I explained that, I believe, to Mr. Shepherd, saying that the difference was the aggressive system expansion, which you see in column 12.  

     MR. MILLAR:  I see.  And I thought I heard you say that today.  So, just to be 100 percent clear, when we look at the increase from column 7 to column 8, none of that is a result of gas-fired electric-generating mains?  That's already incorporated.  

     MR. LADANYI:  It’s already incorporated.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Those are my questions.  Thank you. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar. 

     Mr. Cass, would you like to do your re-examination? 

     MR. CASS:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  

RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. CASS:

     MR. CASS:  For the benefit of everyone in the room trying to orient themselves to my questions, I'm going to actually go if reverse order.  So I'm going to start with the more recent areas of cross-examination, and work back, if I may.  

     During Mr. Dingwall's cross-examination, there were some questions to Mr. Beaumont relating to the size of mains involved in the cast-iron main-replacement program.  Mr. Beaumont, I believe you had made -- in that context, you've given some evidence about services being an input into why you think there is some degree of urgency to the cast-iron main-replacement program.  Do you remember that exchange with Mr. Dingwall? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  I do.  

     MR. CASS:  Could you elaborate on what you meant about “services,” please.  

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Well, I think I mentioned in my direct evidence, as well, yesterday, that, you know, part of our decision process was driven not only by examining the mains, as we have historically done, but also trying to consider the system more holistically, so -- including the services in our assessment of the risks of that entire system.  

     And in that assessment, the services, in our opinion, posed a risk that we had probably understated historically, in terms of their potential to cause us problems.  

     And that really arises in one of two ways.  They are

-- the steel services that come off cast-iron are essentially isolated, and so not methodically protected, and so are subject to corrosion and leaks.  And they are, also, for the most part, of a configuration where the service goes directly from the main into the building, underground, with no - what I would term - “weak point”, no other place to break, other than where there is a connection.  So there’s a connection at the main, and there’s a connection at the meter configuration inside the building.  

     And that is a type of configuration that causes a particular amount of discomfort, today, that we probably, historically, didn't have as much discomfort with.  

     MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Now, I think it was during Mr. Shepherd's cross-examination, there was some discussion - again, I believe with you, Mr. Beaumont, perhaps to some extent with Mr. Ladanyi - about what you're doing in 2005 in relation to cast-iron main replacement.  

     Could one of the witnesses just comment on what the constraints would be in 2005, whether capital dollars, or planning and permitting, or something else?  

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Well, I think that, as I tried to describe -- that, you know, these projects are relatively complicated, involve a number of service -- or a number of main lengths, so covering a number of streets.  And so, as we go to replace any particular piece of cast-iron, it's unlikely you would select an individual street and replace it.  You would normally do an area.  That area requires a fair degree of engineering planning and coordination with the municipality, from a permitting perspective.  They have issues with -- that constrain us in terms of our ability to go on the street sometimes, depending on how recently they had paved or reconstructed that street, for example.  


So all of those things limit the speed at which we basically get projects approved through the city, which is an absolute critical path item for us to proceed.


So the projects that we've identified this year are already taxing the city with respect to their ability to issue permits to us.


MR. CASS:  Is the constraint in any way related to capital dollars?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Not from my perspective, no.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  I think more than one cross‑examiner had questions about Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 16, page 48.  This is the annual revenue requirement chart in relation to the cast-iron main replacement program.


If you have that chart in front of you, I wonder if any of the witnesses could comment on the extent to which O&M expenses are included in the analysis that lies behind this chart?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Well, the longer-term perspective absolutely accounts for the fact that once we have removed all the cast-iron, we will take activities out of the organization, like the additional leak survey that we do today.  It's not removed until all the cast-iron is removed, however.


The part that doesn't perhaps fairly represent, I would say, is in the case where we ‑‑ if we did not accelerate the program, I think I mentioned at one point that we would need to take some additional action in order to give ourselves some comfort.  So there would probably be ‑‑ we would be looking to do additional ‑‑ we would be looking to do additional inspections or leak surveys or some sort of program of condition monitoring of that system, and those O&M dollars are not built into this analysis, as far as my recollection is, anyways.


MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Then I have a quick question on the system expansion evidence.  I think sometimes it's been called aggressive system expansion.


Could any witness on the panel just generally comment on the extent to which any of those projects might be expected to come back to the Board, so to speak, in the form of leave to construct applications?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, I can do that.  And we deal with that, I believe, in VECC Interrogatory No. 47.  So it's Exhibit I, tab 25, schedule 47.


That interrogatory on the first page, I have included the leave to construct criteria from the OEB Act and also from Ontario Regulations 328.3, and then we looked at the projects that we have in our budget, and we have listed them on -- subsequent on page 3 in the table.  And I have indicated which ones meet the criteria, and we would expect that we would file these with the OEB as a leave to construct application.


MR. CASS:  I don't know whether you can quickly ballpark it or not, Mr. Ladanyi, but can you remind us of the total amount of expansion dollars that are budgeted in this category, and then perhaps, ballpark, of those dollars, how much would be represented by projects that you would expect a leave to construct application?  Is that asking a little too much at the end of a long day?


MR. LADANYI:  Well, I think the largest ones, when you look at it here, are the Fenelon Falls/Bobcaygeon.  There's that project, and that's listed here at $16 million.  A St. Isadore residential salesman is another part of these expansion projects, and that also is going to come for a leave to construct.  That is $2.2 million.


Some of the other projects are reinforcement, so they're not necessarily part of the system expansion project.


MR. CASS:  All right, thank you.  I think that is satisfactory.  Then, finally, I wanted to turn to a couple of questions about the budget process that's been discussed extensively during cross‑examination.


During the cross‑examination, it struck me that it was not entirely clear at what stage ‑‑ particularly in relation to the draft budgets that the witnesses were asked about, at what stage there was actually some approval of budget.


Could one of the witnesses help us with this by describing the process and at what stage there is any form of approved budget?


MR. PLAYER:  The budget is not finally approved until it passes through the executive management team.  Up until that time, it becomes, as I mentioned earlier, I think, fairly grassroots-type of process.  It is an iterative process.  If I can use the example that we're in, in fact, this year, we're having various numbers coming at us now and it's a process going back and forth, and we're saying, No, those numbers are too high.  Get those things back down.  


So it is a -- this is just the way that we do our budget.  And not until the very end of the entire process, before we have to finalize to bring forward in a rate filing, do we finalize that budget.


MR. CASS:  So, Mr. Player, could you put that, then, into the context of the budgets that have been discussed for 2006?  There was extensive discussion during cross‑examination about the $316.2 million budget.  Mr. Shepherd had some questions about another budget.


So can you put those into the context, then, of the process that leads you to an approved budget?


MR. PLAYER:  They were certainly part of a regular process, but they were not -- you know, the December numbers that we saw and were presented were nowhere near any kind of a final budget.  They were a grassroots budget coming up, and then we throw them back down.  So it wouldn't be a completed budget.  I don't know the exact date, but it would have been sometime in - oh, my gosh – March-ish, I would think, before we finalized that budget.


MR. CASS:  All right, thank you.  Then just one final question in the area of budgets.


Much of Mr. Thompson's cross‑examination pertained to the role of Enbridge Inc. in various matters.  I believe Mr. Shepherd also came back and had some questions for Mr. Schultz about what conversations you might have had, Mr. Schultz, with Mr. Letwin about budgets.


Can somebody on the panel please explain what role, overall, Enbridge Inc. played in the 2006 budgets for O&M and for capital that are before this Board?


MR. SCHULTZ:  Enbridge Inc. has not seen the 2006 budget in any detail.  They certainly have not approved it.  I would take the budget to Enbridge Inc. at the latter part of this year, likely the November/December time frame.  The only review Enbridge Inc. would have would be the highlights of the application that we would put forward, but certainly not any approval of the budget at this stage.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Those are my questions for the panel, Madam Chair.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  The Board panel does have a few questions.  Ms. Chaplin.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  I have a couple of questions primarily in the ‑‑ well, in the capital budget area, and Mr. Cass's redirect has been helpful in many respects.  But, first of all, in the area of the cast-iron bare-steel replacement, you've given us the explanation for why you feel or for why you are proposing that it be accelerated, and we have had some description of why one year was not feasible.


And perhaps I misunderstood you, Mr. Schultz, but -‑ and I don't have the benefit of the transcript, because this was actually from earlier this morning, but I believe this was in your ‑‑ the cross‑examination by Mr. Warren, and he was canvassing with you the communications that you had around that program with Enbridge Inc.


And I have a note here ‑ and, granted, I may be completely incorrect, and that is what I want to clarify ‑ but I understood you to say that you had had discussions with Enbridge Inc. around the timing of the acceleration program, in other words, how much it would be accelerated by; is that correct, or have I misunderstood you? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  No, Ms. Chaplin you have understood that correctly.  I would have had discussions along the way.  When I saw, towards the end of calendar year 2004, that the cast-iron replacement program was not effectively replacing the system, and, therefore, there were more risks than I was comfortable with.  I would have started those discussions at that point.  

     I would have continued along the lines with, What is it that the application should look like, to accommodate and minimize the risk to the residents of this province?  So it started and went through that.  And then, when I would have presented the highlights, it would have then shown the corporate leadership team the program, and what would be included in 2006 to replace that cast-iron pipe and bare-steel.  

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.  Now, did you -- again, sort of, going from my notes -- did you receive input from either Mr. Letwin or other Enbridge Inc. executives -- input into this assessment as to how quickly it could be done?  Sort of one year, versus two years, versus three years, versus -- your options? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes.  We did have some discussions along that line.  As we talked about, Enbridge is very

safety-conscious, as is Enbridge Distribution.  There was some question as to why it would take three years.  And we went through the discussion, in terms of the nature of the project, the permits that were required, the areas of downtown Toronto that would have to be taken out of service, a number of those things.  So it was more of a -- getting an understanding. 

     In fact, I had shown them maps of the specific areas.  And if you were to do this more quickly - assuming you could get permits - you would taken entire streets down for entire summers, and we know that that’s not going to be acceptable.  So we're looking at programs, and how we can do that over a three-year period.  Again, replacing the most risk-prone as soon as we can.  

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So would it be fair to conclude that your accelerated program is, basically, as physically quickly as it can be done, given the constraints that are imposed upon you by the city of Toronto? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  That is what my engineering staff and Mr. Beaumont tell me, yes.  

     MS. CHAPLIN:  And then, moving away from that, and sort of looking at the capital budget, more generally.  You’ve outlined, sort of, the approval process and the role that Enbridge Inc. has, and, sort of, the timing of the various pieces.  

     Is your access to capital unlimited, for projects?

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I would not say it’s unlimited, but Enbridge is, at this stage, not capital- constrained, per se.  They do invest money.  And, of course, they look at a priority, but safety is a priority.  And we would always, in my mind, have those funds.  I have never had any indication whatsoever that, if safety was an issue, there would not be funds made available to rectify that situation. 

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  And I'm also speaking beyond just the safety.  For example, in the area of the aggressive system expansion, presumably, you could do more of that, if you wanted to? 

     MR. SCHULTZ:  I’ve not had a capital budget that has been reduced as a result, but I can tell you that, from an Enbridge Inc. perspective, they do look at projects and returns.  And this isn't the highest return they would have.  So if we ran into capital constraints for growth opportunities, there would be some serious discussions that would have to take place, at that point.  

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Sommerville?  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     I think these questions are for you, Mr. Beaumont, primarily.  

     If I could refer you to Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 16, page 50.  

     This may be the reference, Mr. Dingwall, that you were looking for earlier, with respect to other systems and their experience in replacement programs.  

     Do you have that, Mr. Beaumont?

     MR. BEAUMONT:  I'm sorry, I missed the page reference. 

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I beg your pardon.  It is page 50 of 60. 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Okay, yes, I have it.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  This appears to be an e-mail -- a memorandum to you from Mr. Tozer, that indicates that: 

“The information following this is obtained from presentations given during the American Gas Association best practices bench-marking session in Georgia in ...” 

As it turns out.

     
“... in January of 2005.”

     Is that correct? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And the document that follows is a summary of -- the heading is “A Summary of Other Risk-Based Mains-Replacement Programs.”  

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that a document that Mr. Tozer produced?  Or is that a document that came out of the AGA benchmarking session? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  I think that this 2-page - if I'm understanding the question - this 2-page document would have been summarized by Mr. Tozer from the presentations that were done at that session. 

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  Assuming that that’s correct, he indicates that this is a summary of other risk-based mains-replacement programs.  Can you indicate to me what the “others” were?  What is the reference to "other" risk-based mains-replacement programs?  

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Mr. Ladanyi is reminding me.  I think all he meant is “other than our own.” 

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay, thank you.  And just to follow on that.  In his second paragraph, he indicates that all of the companies mentioned use a qualitative risk-based approach.  

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  In answer to a question, I think earlier today, you indicated that the company had, in fact, done a risk assessment related to the cast-iron replacement program; is that correct? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  I did, yes.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And when you -- the program you were referring to, was it a qualitative risk-based approach? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes.  I think that the way I characterized was, when we talk about risk-based -- or, risk assessments of our plant, it’s really a broad collection of activities that we do, including monitoring things.  So the answer to your question, in a broad sense, is “it’s both.”  It includes qualitative, but, in this particular case, we are trying to develop a quantitative version of risk assessment.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  As I read the excerpts - I'm not going to go into any great detail - of the three programs that are outlined, they appear to be

highly-quantitative in their approach; is that a fair characterization? 

     For example, the Baltimore Gas and Electric Company -- there’s reference to something called “the optimum

risk-management software”, which aligns with their system and uses failure experience to prioritize replacements.  And it seems - as the other systems seem to do - to take a number of factors into account, and produce a prioritizing score.  Did you do such a study? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Yes.  I would say that, what they do is closer to what we've done traditionally, in terms of how we prioritize the replacement.  What we tried to do -- what we have been trying to do, over the course of the last couple of years, when I talk about being more sophisticated in the risk assessment, is to be able to assess all of the types of activity and plant that we have, on a common platform.  And, you know, that comes down to either some sort of point system, or dollars, or whatever.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So the -- 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Sorry.  Excuse me. 

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Not at all. 

     MR. PLAYER:  The answer to that is that we probably have taken it one step further than what they would talk about, here.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  So you regarded your program to have been a generation advanced from these, is that what I’m to gather from your answer? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  I would say, from a risk-assessment perspective, yes.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  The leak -- one of the things that drives the Synergy Corporation's program is the incidents of leaks.  Do you have that statistic?  The leaks per mile?  

     The goal of the Synergy Corporation appears to be to reduce the leak-rate on cast-iron and bare-steel mains to .05 leaks per mile.  Do you have a leaks statistic for your system? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  Again, I would have to dig a little bit, but I believe it was provided in another interrogatory. 

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I beg your pardon, I haven't seen it.  If you could provide that in the fullness of time, that would be fine.  

     MR. BATTISTA:  We can give that Undertaking J7.11.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J7.11:  TO PROVIDE THE LEAKS STATISTIC FOR THE APPLICANT’S SYSTEM

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks, very much.  

     Just a couple of more questions.  How many kilometers of cast-iron mains did you replace in 2005? 

     MR. BEAUMONT:  We're not done, but we're trying to replace approximately 105.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  The CSA standard, you indicated that you monitor -- is it a committee or committees of the Canadian Standards Association dealing with the distribution system integrity issue?  Is there one committee or two?


MR. BEAUMONT:  There is, in some respects, two, because there is ‑‑ well, maybe even three, for that matters, because there is what's called the CSA Z662 technical committee, which looks at the broad code.  They will touch on it.  There is one chapter within that code that is specifically dealing with distribution systems.  There is a committee that looks at that, and then there is a specific committee addressing distribution integrity.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  And you sit on ‑‑ not you, personally, but the company has representatives on each of those committees?


MR. BEAUMONT:  That's true.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Have any of those committees adopted, for presentation as a CSA standard, a particular standard?  Have they arrived at a conclusion, a final version, if you like, of a CSA standard that mandates the replacement or monitoring or management of cast-iron pipes?  Has any of that occurred?


MR. BEAUMONT:  No, it hasn't.  And in my own estimation, it is not likely that that will be so prescriptive in the final code.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Just one final question.  Union Gas, does Union Gas have cast-iron in its system?


MR. BEAUMONT:  To my knowledge, no, and I think to their knowledge, no.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  That's their story.  They're sticking to it.  I say that facetiously.  Thank you, Mr. Beaumont.  I appreciate it.


MS. NOWINA:  I have one question, and, I'm sorry, Mr. Beaumont, but it is also for you.


When Mr. Dingwall was asking you questions, he referred to the field force transformation project, and he asked if that project would provide benefit to the pipeline enhancement project.  And your response, I believe -- and, again, I don't have the value of the transcript, but I believe that your response was that you felt that the project, the field force transformation project, would provide more benefit in high volume, routine types of activities than on large projects.


I am trying to put that together with yesterday's discussion and evidence that for the EnVision project, 90 percent of those costs were going to be capitalized because the benefits were to go to capital projects.  


So can you reconcile those two things?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Well, EnVision itself has a lot of components to it, including a forecasting and scheduling piece, which is where a lot of the benefits do manifest themselves.


On field-force transformation, that's really the automation of ‑‑ it's the field component of how they receive their information.  I probably understated the capture of the record information, though, if we get to that point where we're actually creating the record electronically in the field.  There are benefits associated with that, for sure, but a lot of the benefits related to capital are in the scheduling and ability to levelize the work for the contract workforce over a longer period of time, which is indirectly a field-force ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Isn't directly in the field-force transformation project?


MR. BEAUMONT:  Right.


MS. NOWINA:  Although that part of the EnVision project is being charged to capital, as I understand it? 


MR. BEAUMONT:  It's associated with -- there is a good portion of that that is associated with that capture of electronic records, but that's not the only type of work is capital.  There is high-volume capital stuff, too, replacement projects and that sort of stuff, as well.


MS. NOWINA:  All right, that is helpful.  Thank you.  Those are our questions.


Mr. Cass, did you wish to have any further re‑examination?


MR. CASS:  No, thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Are there any further items before we finish for today, any administrative items?


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, just as a reminder, I don't believe we start until 1:00 p.m. tomorrow, and I assume that will be with the Rate 300 panel.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Given that that gives some of you some time tomorrow morning, we'll go back to schedule.  I think a number of the parties indicated that once we had completed with this panel, they would have a better idea of their requirements to query other panels going forward.  So I would urge the parties to get that information to Mr. Cass, so perhaps we can get another iteration of our schedule within the next day or two based on that information.


I know that we have some information for Mr. Cass, as well.  Maybe we have already given that to him, the Board information.


MR. BATTISTA:  We provided Mr. Hoey with a schedule of the Board's availability in September and October, and it is anticipated that tomorrow afternoon Enbridge will share a revised schedule, day-by-day schedule, taking that, as well as combined panels, into account.


MS. NOWINA:  Excellent.  Thank you very much, panel.  It's been a long couple of days, particularly for you, I'm sure.  And with that, we will adjourn until one o'clock tomorrow afternoon. 

‑‑‑ Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:10 p.m.
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